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Five Years Financial Summary

AFMBHME

Year ended 31 December

BE+t-A=t-HLEE

Results E35 2015 2014 2013 2012 2011
—®-EF —T-mF —F-=F "T-—F —T——F
Turnover EET
(RMB'000) (ANREFT) 7,801 11,108 575,871 979,424 214,480
(Loss) profit attributable iN/NCIWA 7N
to owners of the FEfh (E518) ‘&7
Company (RMB’000) (AR®EFT) (33,783) 50,192 157,448 103,489 22,529
(Loss) earnings per share i (BE) 8%
(RMB cents) (ARED)
- Basic —H AR (3.02) 5.33 16.72 11.99 2.64
- Diluted -8 (3.02) 3.76 11.78 1.74 1.69
At 31 December
W+=B=+-8
Assets and liabilities BEREE 2015 2014 2013 2012 2011
—¥-RF —FT-MF —T-=F "T--F "—T-—F
Total assets EEBE
(RMB'000) (ANREFT) 1,656,810 1,348,211 531,921 1,505,156 1,737,392
Total liabilities afEmE
(RMB’000) (AEEFT) (1,134,447) (838,331) (35,110) (1,076,109) (1,406,521)
Net asset value BEFS
(RMB'000) (AEEFT) 522,363 509,880 496,811 429,047 330,871
Equity attributable to owners ¥R A FZ A A
of the parent (RMB'000) FEfhEL
(AR®FT) 500,187 485,386 501,139 366,135 255,366
Non-controlling interests I
(RMB'000) (AR®FT) 22,176 24,494 (4,328) 62,912 75,505
Total equity A 522,363 509,880 496,811 429,047 330,871
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Management Discussion and Analysis

BUSINESS REVIEW

Property Development

The Group owned a property development project located
in Maoming City (the “Project”), Guangdong Province, the
People’s Republic of China (the “PRC"). The Project will be
developed into a composite of residential and commercial
properties.

During the year, the Maoming property development
project is still in construction and pre-sale stage, no
revenue attributed to the property development segment
was recorded (2014: nil). Phase 1 and 2 of the Project are
scheduled to be completed and delivered in late 2016 and
2017 with total gross floor area of approximately 173,000
square metre. Phase 1 consists of ten buildings of 28 to 32
floors each. The pre-sale has begun since November 2014.
As at 31 December 2015, residential properties and office
premises of approximately 98,000 square metre and 2,000
square metre were contracted for sales which represented
approximately 70% and 10% of the gross floor area of
residential properties and office premises to be developed
under Phase 1 and 2 of the Project respectively. The pre-
sale of commercial properties of Phase 1 and 2 of the
Project is planned to be launched in mid-2016 which
consist of approximately 12,000 square metre.

The construction of Phase 3 of the Project is scheduled
to commence in mid-2016 and will be completed in late
2018. The total gross floor area of Phase 3 of the Project is
approximately 127,000 square metre which is mainly being
residential properties consisting of nine buildings of 32
floors each.

BEERWR DT
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YIRBR

AREERPEARAME (THE]) BEREXA
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—PU%F - E) o ZIHBF—HIEE _%ﬁﬁ%m
TE-RFREZE—EFRIRRNMN - B
HEHEIEX)A173,000F K - THE FE— iR T
B28ENEEEFHEK - —T—WFE+—AB
HBEEE R-ZE—RAF+_A=+—"H &
%pmiﬁ%&umﬁﬁ%%&%&%?@
YEDEFTHEE  DRMhZBEEFE—HASE
THEERENEERSTEVEREEREN
70% % 10% ° ZBEFE —HEE_BHTEAY
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Management Discussion and Analysis

BEERWR DT

Trading
Raw Sugar

The Group has started its business in trading of raw sugar
since late 2014. During the year, it continued to procure
raw sugars from overseas suppliers and distribute to the
customers in the PRC. Amid the decline in sugar price
in 2015 and excessive supply in the market, the Group
experience certain constraints in expanding the sugar
trading business during the year. During the year, turnover
attributed to the trading of raw sugar segment amounted
to approximately RMB7,801,000 (2014: RMB11,108,000).
In view of the recovery of raw sugar price and market
conditions, the management is optimistic on the trading of
raw sugar business in 2016 and will continue to look for
growth opportunities.

Electronic Components

Trading of electronic component includes the distribution
of electronic related components, mobile phone modules
and imported automation products. During the year,
turnover attributed to the trading of electronic components
amounted to approximately RMB16,642,000 (2014: nil)
with a segment loss of approximately RMB345,000 was
recorded. Amid the weak non-brand mobile phone market
in the PRC, the Group planned to cease to engage in the
trading of electronic components market in the coming
year.

MARKET OUTLOOK AND PROSPECTS

Looking ahead to 2016, there are increasing complexities
and uncertainties in the global economy. The PRC may
further experience a decelerated economic growth speed
that the GDP growth is predicted to be between 6.5%
to 7.0%, in a relatively lower range among recent years.
As stated in various government reports, lowering the
inventory of properties has become one key mission in
2016.

85
R

AEBR-_ZE—NFREERFAERBEZE S
e TR AEBEERSIMIERKRER
B WRFPEEFESHE > ERBEEESNR_-F—
FFTHRETMSHERBE AEERFEARN - &
BRXPEBBBRECFEAETRS - £/ - R
B 50 HRSnEEBEL R/ ARKT7,801,0007T
(ZZ—p4F : ARK11,108,00070) #5078
HREEREMSRREN  EREH T —
NEZRBESXBHEBERETHRHESE
EREE o

EFTlt

BEFLHESBEEFHEBEITH - FHRAN
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BH2EXBLHEANRE16,642,000T (=&
—PUF 8 UERBESIBEEAEARELY
345,0007C c AR BIFEMEFHMIHRI[ B -
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SE ©
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BETBHIER ER6.5%E7.0% 2 M HHE A
RAEBFBEAKT - SEFRELL - BED
¥EFEHRA-S— R "FERIHKZ— -



China Uptown Group Company Limited F1 [ Fi 5@ AR /A7 Annual Report 2015 3R

Management Discussion and Analysis

The management expects the real estate and relevant
monetary policies will continue with easing. In 2016, the
government has already decreased the mortgage down
payment ratio, certain stamp and tax levies and deposit
reserve rate. Certain purchase restriction policies have also
be relieved.

While cautions investment policies will be imposed in view
of the complicated economic conditions in the PRC, the
continuous urbanisation in the PRC and infrastructure
development in western Guangdong province in the
next few years, the management is optimistic on the
performance of the Project.

In 2016, the Group has planned to further diversify its
business by both expanding its trading business and
exploring other property and investment opportunity. After
the completion of price adjustments in raw sugar in 2015,
the management expects a more stable raw sugar pricing
in 2016 which will increase our opportunity and reduce
risks of our raw sugar trading business in the coming year.

FINANCIAL REVIEW

For the year ended 31 December 2015, the Group’s
turnover amounted to approximately RMB7,801,000
(2014: RMB11,108,000). The turnover represented the
trading of raw sugar. The loss attributable to owners of the
Company was approximately RMB33,783,000 (2014: profit
of RMB50,192,000). The loss are caused by the selling
and distribution costs of pre-sales of the Project launched
in late 2014. In 2014, a disposal gain, as a result of the
disposal of Usualink Group, amounted to approximately
RMB61,763,000 was recorded.

In 2015, the Group’s operating activities generated a net
cash inflow of approximately RMB178,450,000 (2014
outflow of RMB93,243,000) which was mainly due to the
proceeds from the pre-sales of the Project.

BEERWR DT
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Management Discussion and Analysis

BEERWR DT

At 31 December 2015, bank balances and cash was
amounted to approximately RMB94,405,000 (2014
RMB239,352,000), including restricted bank deposit of
approximately RMB7,651,000 (2014: RMB7,652,000).

At 31 December 2015, the total assets of the Group
was approximately RMB1,656,810,000 (2014:
RMB1,348,211,000), representing an increase of
approximately 23% as a result of further construction
and development on the property development project in
Maoming City.

At 31 December 2015, the Group’s total borrowings
decreased to approximately RMB365,079,000 (2014
RMB612,415,000) due to the repayment of loans related
to the construction of the Project. At 31 December 2015,
the gearing ratio, expressed as a percentage of total
borrowings over net assets was 70% (2014: 120%). The
current ratio was 1.7 (2014: 3.3).

FINANCE COSTS

For the year ended 31 December 2015, the finance
costs from continuing operations were approximately
RMB244,000 (2014: RMB227,000) and interest expenses
of approximately RMB57,531,000 (2014: RMB18,858,000)
was capitalised as properties under development.
The charge mainly comprised of interest expenses on
bank borrowings wholly repayable within five years of
approximately RMB233,000 (2014: RMB227,000) and
interest expenses on bank overdraft of approximately
RMB11,000 (2014: nil).

CAPITAL STRUCTURE

The issued ordinary share capital of the Company at 31
December 2015 was approximately HK$152,448,000
divided into 1,524,478,520 shares of HK$0.10 each.

—E—RF+-A=+—8  BOTEFELE
% A% ANR®94,405,0007T (ZZE—MHE - A
[K#239,352,0007T) ' BiEBARSIBRITHERE
HWAR®7,651,000C (ZE—WFE: AR
7,652,0007T) ©
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EE AN AR,656,810,0005T (ZZ —
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TR E— P EEEAER K AERIBEMNY

“E-RAF+-_A=+—8 AEEMNARE
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Management Discussion and Analysis

FUND RAISING ACTIVITY

On 18 November 2015, the Company and Celestial Capital
Limited (the “Placing Agent”) entered into a placing
agreement pursuant to which the Placing Agent has
conditionally agreed to place, on a best effort basis, up
to 188,288,000 ordinary shares of the Company to not
less than six placees to subscribe at HK$0.329 per placing
share, for and on behalf of the Company (the “Placing”).
The aggregate gross proceeds and the net proceeds (after
deduction of applicable costs and expenses relating to
the Placing) from the Placing were approximately HK$62
million and HK$61 million respectively, of which HK$40
million was used for the payment of part of the retention
fund of RMB50 million (equivalent to approximately
HK$61 million) in relation to the acquisition of Shenzhen
Longshenghang Supply Chain Limited, details of which
were set out in the Company’s announcement dated 25
September 2015, HK$18 million was used as the working
capital of the Company and the remaining HK$3 million
were retained at the bank at the end of the year.

The directors (the “Directors”) of the board (the “Board”)
of the Company consider that the Placing represents a
good opportunity to (i) strengthen the financial position
of the Group; and (ii) broaden the shareholder base of the
Company. The Directors consider that the terms of the
Placing are fair and reasonable and the Placing is in the
interests of the Company and the Shareholders as a whole.

CONVERSION OF PREFERENCE SHARES
AND PREFERENCE A SHARES

On 20 July 2015, the Company received conversion notices
from China Sugar Holdings Limited (“China Sugar”) for
the conversion of i) Preference Shares in the amount of
HK$90,000,000 in full at the conversion price of HK$0.38
per ordinary share and resulted in a total number of
236,842,105 ordinary shares issued to China Sugar upon
the conversion of the said Preference Shares; and ii)
Preference A Shares in the amount of HK$2,000,000 in full
at the conversion price of HK$0.38 per ordinary share and
resulted in a total number of 5,263,157 ordinary shares
issued to China Sugar upon the conversion of the said
Preference A Shares.

Details of which are set out in the Company’s
announcement dated 22 July 2015.
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BEERWR DT

On 28 July 2015, the Company received conversion
notices from an individual preference shareholder for
the conversion of i) Preference Shares in the amount of
HK$10,000,000 in full at the conversion price of HK$0.38
per ordinary share and resulted in a total number of
26,315,789 ordinary shares issued to this individual
preference shareholder upon the conversion of the said
Preference Shares; and ii) Preference A Shares in the
amount of HK$6,000,000 in full at the conversion price of
HK$0.38 per ordinary share and resulted in a total number
of 15,789,473 ordinary shares issued to this individual
preference shareholder upon the conversion of the said
Preference A Shares.

In addition, on 6 August 2015, the Company received
conversion notices from certain preference shareholders
for the conversion of Preference A Shares in an aggregate
amount of HK$18,000,000 in full at the conversion price of
HK$0.38 per ordinary share and resulted in a total number
of 47,368,420 ordinary shares issued to these preference
shareholders upon the conversion of the said Preference A
Shares.

Furthermore, on 4 September 2015, the Company
received conversion notices from an individual preference
shareholder for the conversion of i) Preference Shares in
the amount of HK$10,000,000 in full at the conversion
price of HK$0.38 per ordinary share and resulted in a
total number of 26,315,789 ordinary shares issued to this
individual preference shareholder upon the conversion
of the said Preference Shares; and ii) Preference A Shares
in an aggregate amount of HK$14,000,000 in full at
the conversion price of HK$0.38 per ordinary share
and resulted in a total number of 36,842,104 ordinary
shares issued to certain preference shareholders upon the
conversion of the said Preference A Shares.

Upon these conversions of preference shares, there is no
Preference Shares or Preference A Shares of the Company
in issue.
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Management Discussion and Analysis

FOREIGN CURRENCY EXPOSURE

The Group mainly earns revenues and incurs costs
in Renminbi, United States dollars and Hong Kong
dollars. The Group’s monetary assets and liabilities are
denominated in Renminbi, United States dollars and Hong
Kong dollars. The Group currently does not have a foreign
currency hedging policy. However, the management will
monitor foreign exchange exposure closely and consider
the use of hedging instruments when the need arises.

CHARGE ON ASSETS

At 31 December 2015, certain of the Group’s leasehold
land and buildings and properties under development
with an aggregate carrying values of approximately
RMB1,459,055,000 (2014: RMB1,082,057,000) were
pledged to banks for securing general banking facilities
granted to certain subsidiaries of the Company. At 31
December 2015, banking facilities of approximately
RMB607,638,000 (2014: RMB612,415,000) were utilised
and approximately RMB9,353,000 (2014: RMB2,404,000)
were unutilised and available for the Group’s future
financing.

SEGMENT INFORMATION

The details of segment information are set out in note 10
to the consolidated financial statements.

CAPITAL COMMITMENTS

At 31 December 2015, the Group had commitments
for properties under development contracted for but
not provided in the consolidated financial statements of
approximately RMB178,767,000 (2014: RMB321,259,000).

EMPLOYEE AND REMUNERATION POLICIES

At 31 December 2015, the Group employed 66 full time
employees (2014: 66) in Hong Kong and the PRC. The
Group’s emolument policies are formulated on the basis
of market trends, future plans and the performance of
individuals, which will be reviewed periodically. Apart from
provident fund scheme and state-managed social welfare
scheme, share options will also be awarded to employees
according to assessment of individuals’ performance.
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BEERWR DT

CONTINGENT LIABILITIES

As at 31 December 2015, the Group did not have any
material contingent liabilities.

DIVIDEND

The Board does not recommend any payment of dividend
for the year ended 31 December 2015.

PUBLICATION OF ANNUAL RESULTS AND
ANNUAL REPORT

This results announcement is available for viewing at
the website of Hong Kong Exchanges and Clearing
Limited at www.hkexnews.hk and at the website
of the Company at www.chinauptown.com.hk.
The annual report will be dispatched to the shareholders
of the Company and published on the above websites as
soon as practicable.

APPRECIATION

On behalf of the Board, | would like to take this
opportunity to thank the shareholders for their continuous
support to the Company and extend my appreciation to all
management and staff members for their contribution and
dedication throughout the year.

By Order of the Board
China Uptown Group Company Limited

Liu Feng
Chairman

Hong Kong, 29 March 2016
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Biographical Details of Directors

EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Mr. Liu Feng, aged 46, appointed as Chairman and an
executive Director on 17 August 2012. Mr. Liu has over
twenty years’ experience in the general management
and sugars markets in the People’s Republic of China
(the “PRC"). Mr. Liu is Vice Director of Sugar Association
of China* (P EHEZ1H ). Mr. Liu is a founder of an
enterprise engaged in the sugar and starch production
business in the PRC. Mr. Liu was award as a “Distinct
Entrepreneur” by China Economic Trading Promotion
Agency* (FEILEE ZR#E) in 2011 and as a “Distinct
Non-Government Entrepreneur of China” by China
Non-Government Enterprise Directors Association* (FF [
REMEZRE) in 2009. He holds an Executive Master
Degree of Business Administration from Cheung Kong
Graduate School of Business. Mr. Liu Feng is the father of
Mr. Liu Zhongxiang, the executive Director.

Mr. Liu has entered into a service contract with the
Company without a fixed term and is subject to
retirement by rotation and re-election at annual general
meeting of the Company in accordance with the articles
of association of the Company. Mr. Liu is entitled to
an annual remuneration of HK$2,317,000, which is
covered by his service contract, with discretionary bonus
payment as determined by the remuneration committee
of the Company based on Mr. Liu's and the Company’s
performance. The remuneration package of Mr. Liu is
determined by reference to his duties, responsibilities and
expected time commitment to the Company’s affairs.

Save as disclosed above, Mr. Liu does not hold any other
positions in the Company or any of its subsidiaries and is
not connected with any directors, senior management,
substantial shareholders or controlling shareholders of
the Company. Save as disclosed above, Mr. Liu did not
hold any directorships in any other listed companies on
The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock
Exchange”) and any other stock exchange or other major
appointments during the three years preceding the date
of this report. As at the report date, Mr. Liu does not
have any interests or deemed interests in the shares or
underlying shares of the Company within the meaning
of Part XV of the Securities and Futures Ordinance (the
SEE):

*  For identification purpose only
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Biographical Details of Directors

EEEN

Mr. Chen Xian, aged 52, was appointed as an executive
Director and vice-chairman of the Company on 12 October
2007 and was redesignated as Chairman of the Company
on 30 November 2007. Mr. Chen was redesignated again
as vice-chairman of the Company on 17 August 2012. He
is also a director of several subsidiaries of the Company.
Mr. Chen is one of the founders of a sizeable property
development company in Zhuhai, the PRC and has been
a member of the senior management of a subsidiary of
that company. Mr. Chen was mainly responsible for the
investment and development of real estate projects of
such companies. Before joining those companies, Mr.
Chen worked as a senior member of certain stated-owned
companies and the local authority. He has more than
15 years of extensive experience in the investment
and development of real estate projects. He holds a
Master Degree of Business Administration from the Asia
International Open University (Macau).

Mr. Chen has entered into a service contract with the
Company without a fixed term and is subject to retirement
by rotation and re-election at the annual general meeting
of the Company in accordance with the articles of
association of the Company. Mr. Chen is entitled to an
annual remuneration of HK$2,009,000, which is covered
by his service contract, with discretionary bonus payment
as determined by the remuneration committee of the
Company based on Mr. Chen’s and the Company’s
performance. The remuneration package of Mr. Chen is
determined by reference to his duties, responsibilities and
expected time commitment to the Company’s affairs.

Save as disclosed above, Mr. Chen does not hold any other
positions in the Company or any of its subsidiaries and is
not connected with any directors, senior management,
substantial shareholders or controlling shareholders of the
Company. Save as disclosed above, Mr. Chen did not hold
any directorships in any other listed companies on the
Stock Exchange and any other stock exchange or other
major appointments during the three years preceding the
date of this report. As at the report date, Mr. Chen was
not interested or deemed to be interested in any shares or
underlying shares of the Company pursuant to Part XV of
the SFO.
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Biographical Details of Directors

Mr. Lau Sai Chung, aged 60, was appointed as an
independent non-executive Director on 15 September
2006 and was re-designated as executive Director on 30
November 2007. Mr. Lau was also appointed as chief
executive officer of the Company on 30 November 2007.
He is currently also a director of several subsidiaries of the
Company. Mr. Lau holds a Bachelor degree in Commerce
with major in Accounting from the University of Alberta,
Canada and has over 20 years' experience in the field
of banking and finance both in Hong Kong and North
America. Mr. Lau is also a Fellow member of the Institute
of Canadian Bankers and The Hong Kong Institute of
Directors and a member of The Hong Kong Independent
Non-Executive Director Association.

Mr. Lau has entered into a service contract with the
Company without a fixed term and is subject to
retirement by rotation and re-election at the annual
general meeting of the Company in accordance with
the articles of association of the Company. Mr. Lau is
entitled to an annual package of HK$1,812,000, which is
covered by his service contract, with discretionary bonus
payment as determined by the remuneration committee
of the Company based on Mr. Lau’s and the Company’s
performance. The remuneration package of Mr. Lau is
determined by reference to his duties, responsibilities and
expected time commitment to the Company’s affairs.

As at the report date, Mr. Lau has personal interest in
148,000 Shares, representing 0.01% of the issued share
capital of the Company.

Save as disclosed above, Mr. Lau does not hold any other
positions in the Company or any of its subsidiaries and is
not connected with any directors, senior management,
substantial shareholders or controlling shareholders of the
Company. Save as disclosed above, Mr. Lau did not hold
any directorships in any other listed companies on the
Stock Exchange and any other stock exchange or other
major appointments during the three years preceding the
date of this report. As at the report date, Mr. Lau was not
interested or deemed to be interested in any other shares
or underlying shares of the Company pursuant to Part XV
of the SFO.
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Biographical Details of Directors

EEEN

Ms. Xia Dan, aged 48, was appointed as a non-executive
Director on 21 August 2007 and was re-designated as
an executive Director on 12 October 2007. Ms. Xia was
re-designated as a non-executive Director on 31 December
2008 and re-designated as executive Director again on
27 October 2010. Before Ms. Xia was appointed as a
non-executive Director on 21 August 2007, she had
been a member of the senior management of a sizeable
property development company in Zhuhai, the PRC and
was responsible for its project investments analysis. Ms. Xia
also worked for various companies in the PRC and North
America and has over 20 years of extensive experience
in strategic planning and marketing in the fields of
construction, financial and foreign trading industries. Ms.
Xia graduated from Shenyang University with a Bachelor
of Science in Architecture and holds a Master Degree
of Business Administration from the New York Institute
of Technology. Ms. Xia is a member of The Hong Kong
Institute of Directors.

Ms. Xia has entered into a service contract with the
Company without a fixed term and is subject to the
retirement by rotation and re-election at the annual
general meeting of the Company in accordance with the
articles of association of the Company. Ms. Xia is entitled
to an annual remuneration of HK$772,000, which is
covered by her service contract, with discretion bonus
payment as determined by the remuneration committee
of the Company based on Ms. Xia's and the Company’s
performance. The remuneration package of Ms. Xia is
determined by reference to her duties, responsibilities and
expected time commitment to the Company’s affairs.

As at the report date, Ms. Xia is the beneficial owner of
Mega Edge International Limited which is a substantial
shareholder of the Company holding 79,500,000 ordinary
shares, representing 5.21% equity interest in the capital
of the Company. Ms. Xia is deemed to be interested in
79,500,000 ordinary shares of the Company held by Mega
Edge International Limited under Part XV of the SFO.

Xia DanZt > O+ 1\ RZTEZLF/\A
—t+—BEZRERFMITEER_TZTLF+
AT ZHRAEAMITES - Xax TR ZZFEZN
F+ZA=+—HATAIRTESTIR_F
—ZEF+AZTEtRERERATESE - RN
TE+FNAZ T+ —BXERIENITESH
REARFEKET —MERKYEZRA A
RREREKE  FZABEHBRARKRES T -
XiaZ T 78 BEBRF B RIEEMBZEAR]
ERE  MBERINETRTAEREER T4
WERRE L TSRALR - REXNESG X
BTER BEEETRELBM - KidtNew
York Institute of TechnologyEX{5 & 51T 218
TEBf - XiaK Tt REBEFEGKE -

XiaZ TEBARR R IRG A H B EE T TH
WEARBAQARZRAANEARNR ZRERAF
AE FmERTIREEET - HEEBRBERS
BHEREEMEAEE772,0007T R HAR BH
MEZEeREEARARREMRENBISE
4T o ZBME Y EMXiagr T2 B - EELEA
FIEKIGAERMET -

RARTRE BHEY - XiaZzd-AMega Edge International
Limitedz BB A Z 2RI RARRZ—%
FE2MRE - £ B A2 F]79,500,0000% & i A% -
AR B PRDAEZRS.21% © IRESH R EE &0
EXVEP 2 BE - XiaX TR AR AR ARG
# iMega Edge International LimitedFf 3 & &)
79,500,000% & @Ak 2 #E s



China Uptown Group Company Limited F1 [ Fi 5@ AR /A7 Annual Report 2015 3R

Biographical Details of Directors

Save as disclosed above, Ms. Xia does not hold any other
positions in the Company or any of its subsidiaries and is
not connected with any directors, senior management,
substantial shareholders or controlling shareholders of the
Company. Save as disclosed above, Ms. Xia did not hold
any directorships in any other listed companies on the
Stock Exchange and any other stock exchange or other
major appointments during the three years preceding the
date of this report. As at the report date, Ms. Xia was not
interested or deemed to be interested in any other shares
or underlying shares of the Company pursuant to Part XV
of the SFO.

Mr. Liu Zhongxiang, aged 28, was appointed as an
executive Director on 30 September 2015. He is currently
also a director of several subsidiaries of the Company.
Mr. Liu obtained a diploma of legal secretary from the
People’s Public Security University of China (RFEI AR A%
K in 2009. Mr. Liu has six years of experience in diverse
businesses, such as construction and sugar production and
trading.

Mr. Liu has entered into a service contract with the
Company without a fixed term and is subject to retirement
by rotation and re-election at annual general meeting
of the Company in accordance with the articles of
association of the Company. Mr. Liu is entitled to an
annual remuneration of HK$835,000, which is covered
by his service contract, with discretionary bonus payment
as determined by the remuneration committee of
the Company based on Mr. Liu's and the Company’s
performance. The remuneration package of Mr. Liu is
determined by reference to his duties, responsibilities and
expected time commitment to the Company’s affairs.

As at the report date, (i) save and except that Mr. Liu is the
son of Mr. Liu Feng over the age of 18 years, the chairman
and the executive Director of the Company, he did not
have any other relationship with any other Directors of the
Company, senior management or substantial or controlling
shareholders of the Company; (ii) within the meaning of
Part XV of the SFO, Mr. Liu is interested in 242,105,262
Shares, representing approximately 15.88% of the issued
share capital of the Company.

Save as disclosed above, Mr. Liu does not hold any other
positions in the Company or any of its subsidiaries and is
not connected with any directors, senior management,
substantial shareholders or controlling shareholders of the
Company. Save as disclosed above, Mr. Liu did not hold
any directorships in any other listed companies on the
Stock Exchange and any other stock exchange or other
major appointments during the three years preceding the
date of this report. As at the report date, Mr. Liu was not
interested or deemed to be interested in any other shares
or underlying shares of the Company pursuant to Part XV
of the SFO.
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INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE
DIRECTORS

Mr. Poon Lai Yin, Michael, aged 44, was appointed as
an independent non-executive Director on 29 November
2006. Mr. Poon is also the chairman and a member of the
audit committee and a member of nomination committee
and remuneration committee of the Company. Mr. Poon
is a fellow member of Hong Kong Institute of Certified
Public Accountants and a member of CPA Australia. He
holds a bachelor degree in administrative studies from York
University in Canada and a masters degree in practicing
accounting with Monash University in Australia. Mr. Poon
worked for an international accounting firm and was
responsible for providing business advisory and assurance
services for listed companies. He has over 15 years of
experience in financial reporting, business advisory,
auditing, taxation, accounting, merger and acquisition.
Mr. Poon is currently an independent non-executive
director of Smartac Group China Holdings Limited (Stock
Code: 395), a company listed on main board of the Stock
Exchange, since January 2010.

Mr. Poon has not entered into any written service
agreement with the Company and is appointed for a term
of two years. However, he is subject to the retirement by
rotation and re-election at the annual general meeting of
the Company in accordance with the articles of association
of the Company. Mr. Poon is entitled to an annual
remuneration of HK$180,000 without any bonus payment.
The remuneration of Mr. Poon is not covered by any
service contract. The remuneration package of Mr. Poon is
determined by reference to performance of the Group and
of Mr. Poon with reference to prevailing market conditions.

Save as disclosed above, Mr. Poon does not hold any other
positions in the Company or any of its subsidiaries and is
not connected with any directors, senior management,
substantial shareholders or controlling shareholders of the
Company. Save as disclosed above, Mr. Poon did not hold
any directorships in any other listed companies on the
Stock Exchange and any other stock exchange or other
major appointments during the three years preceding the
date of this report. As at the report date, Mr. Poon was
not interested or deemed to be interested in any shares or
underlying shares of the Company pursuant to Part XV of
the SFO.
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Mr. Char Shik Ngor, Stephen, aged 66, was appointed as
the independent non-executive Director on 30 September
2015. Mr. Char is also the chairman of nomination
committee, a member of audit committee and a member
of remuneration committee of the Company. Mr. Char
is currently a Barrister-at-Law and since 22 May 2007,
has been appointed as an independent non-executive
director of National Investments Fund Limited (Stock Code:
1227), a company listed on the main board of the Stock
Exchange. Mr. Char holds a bachelor of laws (Honours)
from the University of London and a master degree in
Social Sciences from the University of Hong Kong. Mr.
Char was also the chief investigator and senior assignment
officer of the Independent Commission Against Corruption
in Hong Kong from 1976 to 2004 and a chief executive
officer of Garner Forest Industries Limited.

Mr. Char has not entered into any written service
agreement with the Company and is appointed for a term
of three years. However, he is subject to the retirement by
rotation and re-election at the annual general meeting of
the Company in accordance with the articles of association
of the Company. Mr. Char is entitled to an annual
remuneration of HK$180,000 without any bonus payment.
The remuneration of Mr. Char is not covered by any
service contract. The remuneration package of Mr. Char is
determined by reference to performance of the Group and
of Mr. Char with reference to prevailing market conditions.

Save as disclosed above, Mr. Char does not hold any other
positions in the Company or any of its subsidiaries and is
not connected with any directors, senior management,
substantial shareholders or controlling shareholders of the
Company. Save as disclosed above, Mr. Char did not hold
any directorships in any other listed companies on the
Stock Exchange and any other stock exchange or other
major appointments during the three years preceding the
date of this report. As at the report date, Mr. Char was
not interested or deemed to be interested in any shares or
underlying shares of the Company pursuant to Part XV of
the SFO.
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Ms. Li Jiansheng, aged 61, was appointed as the
independent non-executive Director on 30 September
2015. Ms. Li is also the chairman of remuneration
committee, a member of audit committee and a member
of nomination committee of the Company. Ms. Li was
graduated from Dongbei University of Finance and
Economics of China (Bl & 4t BF 48 K 28) in July 1982,
majoring in infrastructure economics. In October 2006,
Ms. Li obtained the certificate for practicing as PRC
Corporate Legal Advisor from the Ministry of Personnel,
the Ministry of Justice and the State-owned Asserts
Supervision and Administration Commission of the State
Counsel of the People’s Republic of China (the “PRC").
She was recognized as a senior accountant by the Ministry
of Personnel of the PRC in 1993 and has been a member
of the Institute of Certified Public Accountants of the PRC
since 1999. Ms. Li obtained a master degree in Executive
MBA from HEC Paris in 2007 and a master degree in
Science in Applied Accounting and Finance from Hong
Kong Baptist University in 2011. Ms. Li, for the period
from September 2007 to March 2014, appointed as vice
president, chief financial officer and general legal advisor
of China Railway Group Limited (Stock Code: 0390), a
company listed on the main board of the Stock Exchange.

Ms. Li has not entered into any written service agreement
with the Company and is appointed for a term of three
years. However, she is subject to the retirement by
rotation and re-election at the annual general meeting
of the Company in accordance with the articles of
association of the Company. Ms. Li is entitled to an
annual remuneration of HK$180,000 without any bonus
payment. The remuneration of Ms. Li is not covered by any
service contract. The remuneration package of Ms. Li is
determined by reference to performance of the Group and
of Ms. Li with reference to prevailing market conditions.

Save as disclosed above, Ms. Li does not hold any other
positions in the Company or any of its subsidiaries and is
not connected with any directors, senior management,
substantial shareholders or controlling shareholders of the
Company. Save as disclosed above, Ms. Li did not hold any
directorships in any other listed companies on the Stock
Exchange and any other stock exchange or other major
appointments during the three years preceding the date of
this report. As at the report date, Ms. Li was not interested
or deemed to be interested in any shares or underlying
shares of the Company pursuant to Part XV of the SFO.
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The Board of Directors of the Company (the “Board”) and
the management of the Company are committed to the
maintenance of good corporate governance practices and
procedures.

The Company’s corporate governance practices are based
on the principles and code provisions set out in the
Corporate Governance Code (the “CG Code”) contained
in Appendix 14 of the Rules Governing the Listing of
Securities (the “Listing Rules”) on the Stock Exchange.

Throughout the year under review, the Company has
complied with all of the code provisions of the CG Code,
except A.6.7 and E.1.2.

MODEL CODE FOR SECURITIES
TRANSACTIONS BY DIRECTORS

The Company has adopted the Model Code for Securities
Transactions by Directors of Listed Issuers (the “Model
Code") as set out in Appendix 10 to the Listing Rules as
its own code of conduct regarding Directors’ securities
transactions. Having made specific enquiry of all Directors,
the Company confirms that all Directors have complied
with the required standard set out in the Model Code
during the year under review.

COMPOSITION AND BOARD PRACTICES

The Board is collectively responsible for the oversight of
the management of the business and affairs of the Group
with the objective of enhancing shareholders value. As at
31 December 2015, the Board consists of eight Directors,
comprising five executive Directors and three independent
non-executive Directors. At least one of the independent
non-executive Director possess appropriate professional
accounting qualifications and financial management
expertise, which complies with the requirement of the
Listing Rules.
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Executive Directors

Mr. Liu Feng (Chairman)

Mr. Chen Xian (Vice-Chairman)

Mr. Lau Sai Chung (Chief Executive Officer)

Ms. Xia Dan

Mr. Liu Zhongxiang (appointed on 30 September 2015)

Independent Non-executive Directors

Mr. Poon Lai Yin, Michael
Mr. Char Shik Ngor, Stephen

(appointed on 30 September 2015)
Ms. Li Jiansheng (appointed on 30 September 2015)
Mr. Chan Chun Fai (resigned on 30 September 2015)
Mr. Ng Kwok Chu, Winfield

(resigned on 30 September 2015)

The directors’ biographical information are set out on
pages 13 to 20 of this annual report. All executive
Directors have given sufficient time and attention to the
affairs of the Group. Each executive Director has sufficient
experience to hold the position so as to carry out his duties
effectively and efficiently. There is no relationship among
the members of the Board of Directors except Mr. Liu Feng
is the father of Mr. Liu Zhongxiang.

The Board has delegated the executive Directors with
authority and responsibility by handling the management
functions and operations of the day-to-day business of
the Company, while reserving certain key matters for the
approval by the Board. The types of decisions to be taken
by the Board include annual and interim period financial
reporting and control, equity fund raising, declaration of
interim dividend and making recommendation of final
dividend or other distributions, notifiable transactions
under Chapters 14 and 14A of the Listing Rules and
making recommendation for capital reorganization or
scheme arrangement of the Company.

The Board and each Director have separate and
independent access to the Company’s senior management.
A Director who considers a need for independent
professional advice in order to perform his duties as
a Director may convene, or request the secretary of
the Company (the “Company Secretary”) to convene,
a meeting of the Board to approve the seeking of
independent legal or other professional advice.
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The Company adopts the practice of holding meetings
of the Board regularly for at least four times a year at
approximately quarterly intervals. Ad-hoc meetings will also
be convened if necessary to discuss the overall strategy
as well as the operation and financial performance of the
Group. Notice of meeting of the Board will be sent to all
Directors at least 14 days prior to a regular board meeting.
Reasonable notice will be given to Directors for ad-hoc
board meetings. Directors may participate either in person
or through electronic means of communications.

During the year, five meetings of the Board were held,
Directors are provided with relevant information to make
informed decisions. The attendance of Directors at the
Board meetings and the Board Committees’ meetings is
set out in the table below:

Corporate Governance Report

SRERRE

ARBEAEH (—FHKRLER > YEF—R)
BUTEELSRNER - WH R wmEBR
ARAEENEERTHERR - e AR
EXEER - EFCOaRAETANAEESS
BOIAMRDTHIREBETHEES - SLRHE
EEERMs  AHASTERTES ES
ARFNEREFBAAALFEEE -

FRAERTARESTE SR EFCESHEH
BRAMELABRE EFSMNEFTZEER

KRBz EHLFEBRAIINTE

Meetings attended/Eligible to attend

LEeE/ AEELECER
Annual General
Audit  Remuneration ~Nomination ~ Meeting held on
Name of Directors Board  Committee Committee ~ Committee 12 June 2015
R-B-1f
AATZREfZ
ESpg Ezxe ENZEE  ¥MZEE RezZEE RRBEAE
Executive Directors HTEE
Mr. Liu Feng 3t 5/5 - - - 11
Mr. Chen Xian RESE 5/5 - - - 01
Mr. Lau Sai Chung AR ALE 55 - - - n
Ms. Xia Dan Xia Dan& 5/5 - - - 101
Mr. Liu Zhongxiang ARMEE
(appointed on 30 September 2015) (RZE-RENA=TREZA) N - - - -
Independent Non-executive Directors BUkHAES
Mr. Poon Lai Yin, Michael BEELE 5/5 20 33 W 11
Mr. Char Shik Ngor, Stephen Sy
(appointed on 30 September 2015) (R=Z-RFNA=THEZR) N - - - -
Ms. Li Jiansheng FRENT
(appointed on 30 September 2015) (R=Z-RENA=THEZA) n = - = -
Mr. Chan Chun Fai RRELE
(resigned on 30 September 2015) (R=Z-RFNA=THET) 4/4 n ElE! 0N on
Mr. Ng Kwok Chu, Winfield REHLE a .
(resigned on 30 September 2015) (RZZ-RENA=TRE) 44 N ElE! 0 f 1/’




China Uptown Group Company Limited R Fi 5@ AR A7 Annual Report 2015 &%

Corporate Governance Report
TRERERE

Directors’ Induction and Continuous Professional
Development

All Directors, including independent non-executive
Directors, should keep abreast of their collective
responsibilities as Directors and of the business and
activities of the Group. Each newly appointed Director
would receive a comprehensive induction package
covering business operations, policy and procedures
of the Company as well as the general, statutory and
regulatory obligations of being a Director to ensure that
he is sufficiently aware of his responsibilities under the
Listing Rules and other relevant regulatory requirements.
The Group also provides briefings and other training to
develop and refresh the Directors’ knowledge and skills,
and update all Directors on the latest developments
regarding the Listing Rules and other applicable regulatory
requirement to ensure compliance and to enhance their
awareness of good corporate governance practices.

During the year ended 31 December 2015, the Directors
participated in the continuous professional developments
in relation to regulatory update, the duties and
responsibility of the Directors and the business of the
Group in the following manner:
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CHAIRMAN AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER

The roles of the chairman of the Company (the
“Chairman”) and chief executive officer of the Company
(the "Chief Executive Officer”) are segregated and are
currently held by Mr. Liu Feng and Mr. Lau Sai Chung
respectively. The Chairman is responsible for the Group’s
strategic planning and the management of the operations
of the Board, while the Chief Executive Officer takes the
lead in the Group’s operations and business development.
There is a clear division of responsibilities between the
Chairman and Chief Executive Officer which provides a
balance of power and authority.

INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

The independent non-executive Directors are appointed
for a term of three years, except Mr. Poon Lai Yin, Michael
who is appointed for a term of two years, and subject to
re-election on retirement by rotation at the annual general
meeting of the Company (“AGM") in accordance with
the Company’s articles of association (the “Articles”).
Two of the independent non-executive Directors has
appropriate professional qualifications or accounting or
related financial management expertise as required under
Rule 3.10 of the Listing Rules. The Company has received
the annual confirmation of independence from each
of the independent non-executive Directors as required
under Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules. The Company, based
on such confirmations, considers all independent non-
executive Directors to be independent.
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NOMINATION COMMITTEE

The Company established a Nomination Committee
with written terms of reference in compliance with the
CG Code. On 20 December 2013, the Board adopted a
set of the revised terms of reference of the Nomination
Committee, which has brought it in line with the new
Listing Rules relating to the board diversity with effective
from 1 September 2013. The revised terms of reference
setting out the Nomination Committee’s authority, duties
and responsibilities are available on both the websites
of the Company and the Stock Exchange. The existing
Nomination Committee has the following three members:

Independent Non-executive Directors

Mr. Char Shik Ngor, Stephen (Chairman)
(appointed on 30 September 2015)
Mr. Chan Chun Fai (Chairman)
(resigned on 30 September 2015)
Mr. Poon Lai Yin, Michael
Ms. Li Jiansheng (appointed on 30 September 2015)
Mr. Ng Kwok Chu, Winfield
(resigned on 30 September 2015)

The Nomination Committee has adopted a written
nomination procedure specifying the process and criteria
for the selection and recommendation of candidates for
directorship of the Company.

The principal responsibilities of the Nomination Committee
are reviewing and supervising the structure, size and
composition of the Board, identifying qualified individuals
to become members of the Board, assessing the
independence of the independent non-executive Directors
and making recommendations to the Board on the
appointment or re-appointment of Directors.

Potential new Directors are identified and submitted to
the Nomination Committee for approval. The nomination
of Directors should take into consideration the candidate’s
qualification, ability and potential contribution to the
Company. A candidate to be appointed as an independent
non-executive Director must also satisfy the independence
criteria set out in Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules. Mr. Liu
Zhongxiang, Mr. Char Shik Ngor, Stephen and Ms. Li
Jiansheng were newly appointed Directors during the
year under review. All of them were appointed by going
through the selection process stated as above.
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During the year under review, two meetings were held
by the Nomination Committee to recommend the re-
appointment of the Directors standing for re-election at
the annual general meeting of the Company, to review
the size, structure, composition as well as diversity of
the Board, to assess the independence of independent
non-executive Directors and to consider the changes of
Directors. The Nomination Committee has also reviewed
the Board Diversity Policy to ensure its effectiveness and
considered that the Group has achieved the effectiveness
of the Board Diversity Policy during the year ended 31
December 2015.

REMUNERATION COMMITTEE

The Company established a Remuneration Committee with
the written terms of reference in compliance with the CG
Code. The terms of reference setting out the Remuneration
Committee’s authority, duties and responsibilities are
available on both the websites of the Company and
the Stock Exchange. The Remuneration Committee has
adopted the operation model where it performs an
advisory role to the Board, with the Board retaining the
final authority to approve the remuneration packages of
individual executive Directors and senior management. The
existing Remuneration Committee has the following three
members:

Independent Non-executive Directors

Ms. Li Jiansheng (Chairlady)
(appointed on 30 September 2015)
Mr. Ng Kwok Chu, Winfield (Chairman)
(resigned on 30 September 2015)
Mr. Poon Lai Yin, Michael
Mr. Char Shik Ngor, Stephen
(appointed on 30 September 2015)
Mr. Chan Chun Fai (resigned on 30 September 2015)

The principal responsibilities of the Remuneration
Committee are making recommendations to the Board on
the Company’s policy and structure for the remuneration
of Directors and senior management, and reviewing the
specific remuneration packages of all executive Directors
and senior management by reference to the corporate
goals and objectives resolved by the Board from time to
time.
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Details of the remuneration of Directors are set out in
Note 18 to the consolidated financial statements. During
the year under review, three meetings of Remuneration
Committee were held for, inter alia, reviewing the
remuneration policy and structure for as well as the
remuneration packages of all Directors and the Senior
Management and considering the remuneration packages
of all newly appointed Directors. No Director was involved
in deciding his/her own remuneration.

AUDIT COMMITTEE

The Company established an audit committee with written
terms of reference in compliance with the CG Code. On
31 December 2015, the Board adopted a set of the revised
terms of reference of the Audit Committee, which has
brought it in line with the new requirement of the Listing
Rules in relation to the internal controls by introducing
the concept of the risk management. The revised terms
of reference setting out the Audit Committee’s authority,
duties and responsibilities are available on both the
websites of the Company and the Stock Exchange.
The existing Audit Committee has the following three
members:

Independent Non-executive Directors

Mr. Poon Lai Yin, Michael (Chairman)
Mr. Char Shik Ngor, Stephen

(appointed on 30 September 2015)
Ms. Li Jiansheng (appointed on 30 September 2015)
Mr. Chan Chun Fai (resigned on 30 September 2015)
Mr. Ng Kwok Chu, Winfield

(resigned on 30 September 2015)

The principal responsibilities of the Audit Committee
include making recommendations to the Board on the
appointment, re-appointment and removal of the external
auditors and to approve the remuneration and terms of
engagement of the external auditors, and any questions
of resignation or dismissal of such auditors; reviewing the
interim and annual reports and accounts of the Group;
and supervising the financial reporting process and
effectiveness of the risk management and internal control
system of the Group.
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During the year under review, two meetings were held by
the Audit Committee to review and make recommendation
to the Board for approval of the audited results of the
Group for the year ended 31 December 2015 and the
unaudited interim results for the six months ended 30
June 2015, to discuss the accounting policies and practices
which may affect the Group with the management and
the Company’s auditors, to make recommendation on the
re-appointment of external auditors for the approval of
the shareholders in the AGM, to review the fees charged
by the external auditors; and to review the effectiveness
of risk management and internal control system of the
Group.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE FUNCTION

All members of the Board are responsible for performing
the corporate governance functions. The terms of
reference of corporate governance functions was adopted
by the Board on 29 March 2012 and is in compliance
with the CG Code. During the year ended 31 December
2015, the Board has reviewed the policy of the corporate
governance and the corporate governance report of the
Company.

BOARD DIVERSITY POLICY

On 20 December 2013, the Company has adopted a board
diversity policy (the “Policy”) setting out the approach to
achieve and maintain diversity on the Board in order to
enhance the effectiveness of the Board.

Pursuant to the Policy, the Company seeks to achieve
Board diversity through the consideration of a number
of factors, including but not limited to gender, age,
cultural and education background, ethnicity, professional
experience, skills, knowledge and length of service.

The Board will consider to set measurable objectives to
implement the Policy and review such objectives from time
to time to ensure their appropriateness and ascertain the
progress made towards achieving those objectives.

All Board appointments will be based on meritocracy, and
candidates will be considered against objective criteria,
having due regard for the benefits of diversity on the
Board.
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Selection of candidates will be based on a range of
diversity perspectives, including but not limited to gender,
age, cultural and educational background, professional
experience, skills and knowledge. The ultimate decision
will be made upon the merits and contribution that the
selected candidates will bring to the Board.

The Nomination Committee will review the Policy from
time to time to ensure its continued effectiveness. During
the year, the Nomination Committee has reviewed the
Policy.

AUDITOR’S REMUNERATION

The audit works of the Group for the year ended
31 December 2015 were performed by SHINEWING (HK)
CPA Limited.

The total fee paid/payable in respect of the statutory audit
and non-audit services provide by external auditors is set
out in the following table:
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REZESRH TR BEER  UERERTZ
B - FR - REAZBE DR ZER

BN =

AREBBE_T—AF T -_A=1T—HILFE
ZV%ZIVEEEEREWD (F%8) SstihEBMAE
[RABIRRIE -

SMNEERZ BN T IR I B E R BN IR BTG 2
BEfERZERESHIINTX

Fee paid/payable

Services rendered FriR AR #E e EAEAR
For the For the
year ended year ended
31 December 31 December
2015 2014
BE-ZT-HF #HE_ZTNF
t=A=+—-8" +=A + =
IEFEE IEFE
HK$'000 HK$'000
BT T BT
SHINEWING (HK) CPA Limited ZXHF (BE) St ER
AR AR
— Audit services — ZE RS 1,280 1,220
— Non-audit services — IEZERTS
Interim review B 224 605 580
Other services E M ARTS - 1,050
Total fee paid/payable for the year FRNEN /R BREH 1,885 2,850
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COMPANY SECRETARY

The Company Secretary, Mr. Fu Lui, was appointed on
2 July 2010. He is responsible to the Board for ensuring
that Board procedures are followed and that the Board
is fully briefed on all legislative, regulatory and corporate
governance developments and has regarded to them
when making decisions. The Company Secretary is
also responsible for advising the Board on the Group’s
compliance with the continuing obligations of the Listing
Rules, Codes on Takeovers and Mergers and Share
Repurchases, Companies Ordinance, Securities and Futures
Ordinance and other applicable laws, rules and regulations.
During the year ended 31 December 2015, Mr. Fu
undertook not less than 15 hours of professional training
to update his skills and knowledge.

DIRECTORS’ RESPONSIBILITY FOR THE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The Directors have acknowledged for the preparation
of the consolidated financial statements at the end of
the reporting period which gives a true and fair view of
the state of affairs of the Group and of the results and
cash flows for that period. In preparing the consolidated
financial statements for the year ended 31 December
2015, the Directors have selected suitable accounting
policies and applied them consistently, made judgments
and estimates that are prudent, fair and reasonable and
prepared the consolidated financial statements on a
going concern basis. The statement by the auditors of the
Company regarding their reporting responsibilities on the
consolidated financial statements of the Group is set out in
the Independent Auditor's Report on pages 50 and 51 of
this annual report.

Corporate Governance Report
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INTERNAL CONTROLS AND RISK
MANAGEMENT

The Board has the overall responsibility for maintaining
a sound and effective system of internal control and
risk management and for reviewing its effectiveness,
particularly in respect of the controls on financial,
operational, compliance and risk management, to achieve
the Company’s business strategies and the Group's
business operations. The Directors have adopted a risk
management and internal control policy for the Group.
The internal control is fundamental to the successful
operation and day-to-day running of a business and to
assists the Company in achieving its business objectives.
The policy has been developed with the primary objective
of providing general guidance and recommendations on a
basic framework of internal control and risk management.
The Company’'s risk management and internal control
system comprises a well established organizational
structure and policies and standards. Procedures have
been designed to safeguard assets against unauthorized
use or disposition, to ensure maintenance of proper
accounting records for the provision of reliable financial
information for internal use or for publication, and to
ensure compliance with applicable laws and regulations.
The purpose of the Company’s internal control and risk
management is to provide reasonable, but not absolute,
assurance against material misstatement or loss and to
manage rather than eliminate risks or failure in operational
systems and achievement of the Company’s objective.

During the year under review, the Directors have
conducted an annual review of the effectiveness of the
system of internal control and risk management of the
Group, covering all material controls, including financial,
operational and compliance controls and risk management
functions.

COMMUNICATION WITH SHAREHOLDERS

The Board makes its endeavour to maintain an ongoing
and transparent communication with all shareholders
and, in particular, use general meetings to communicate
with shareholders and encourage their participation. A
Shareholder’'s Communication Policy was adopted by
the Board on 29 March 2012 aiming at providing the
shareholders and potential investors with ready and timely
access to balanced and understandable information of the
Company. The Company also uses various other means of
communication with its shareholders, such as publication
of annual and interim reports, announcements, circulars
and additional information on the Group’s business
activities and development on the Company’s website:
www.chinauptown.com.hk.
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Under the Code Provision E.1.2 of the CG Code, the
chairman of the board should attend the annual general
meeting and he should also invite the chairmen of
the audit, remuneration, nomination and any other
committees (as appropriate) to attend. In addition, under
the code provision A.6.7 of the CG Code, independent
non-executive directors and other non-executive directors
should attend general meetings and develop a balanced
understanding of the views of shareholders. During the
year ended 31 December 2015, on the AGM held on
12 June 2015, the whole Board and the auditor of the
Company have attended the meeting to answer questions
of the shareholders of the Company except that Mr. Chen
Xian (vice-chairman of the Board) and Mr. Chan Chun Fai
(chairman of nomination committee) could not attend
the meeting due to other business engagement but they
have appointed the other attended Directors as their
representative at the meeting to answer questions of the
shareholders of the Company. In the future, the Company
will try its best to encourage and ensure the independent
non-executive Directors will attend the general meetings.

The Company keeps on promoting investor relations and
enhancing communication with the existing shareholders
and potential investors. It welcomes suggestions from
investors, stakeholders and the public. Enquiries to
the Board or the Company may be sent by post to the
Company’'s head office and principal place of business at
Suite 1501, 15/F, Tower 1, Silvercord, 30 Canton Road,
Tsimshatsui, Kowloon, Hong Kong.

SHAREHOLDERS' RIGHT

Procedures for Shareholders to Convene an
Extraordinary General Meeting

Pursuant to the Articles, an extraordinary general meeting
may be convened by the Board upon requisition by any
shareholder holding not less than one-tenth of the issued
share capital of the Company and the securities being held
carrying the right of voting at any general meetings of the
Company. The shareholder shall make a written requisition
to the Board or the Company Secretary at the Company’s
head office and principal place of business at Suite 1501,
15/F, Tower 1, Silvercord, 30 Canton Road, Tsimshatsui,
Kowloon, Hong Kong, specifying the shareholding
information of the shareholder, his/her contact details and
the proposal regarding any specified transaction/business
and its supporting documents.
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Procedures for putting forward Proposals at a
General Meeting

A shareholder shall make a written requisition to the Board
or the Company Secretary at the Company’s head office
and principal place of business at Suite 1501, 15/F.,, Tower
1, Silvercord, 30 Canton Road, Tsimshatsui, Kowloon,
Hong Kong, specifying the shareholding information of the
shareholder, his/her contact details and the proposal he/
she intends to put forward at general meeting regarding
any specified transaction/business and its supporting
documents.

Procedures for Directing Shareholders’ Enquiries to
the Board

Shareholders may at any time send their enquiries and
concerns to the Board in writing through the Company
Secretary at the Company’s head office and principal place
of business at Suite 1501, 15/F, Tower 1, Silvercord, 30
Canton Road, Tsimshatsui, Kowloon, Hong Kong or send
email to info@chinauptown.com.hk.

Shareholders may also make enquiries with the Board at
the general meetings of the Company.

CONSTITUTIONAL DOCUMENTS

During the year under review, there has no change in the
Company’s constitutional documents.
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The Directors are pleased to present their report and the
audited consolidated financial statements of the Group for
the year ended 31 December 2015.

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES

The Company is an investment holding company. The
principal activities of the Group are engaged in (i) property
development; (ii) trading of raw sugar and (iii) trading of
electronic related components, mobile phone modules and
automation products. Details of the principal subsidiaries
are set out in Note 39 to the consolidated financial
statements.

An analysis of the Group’s turnover by business segments
and geographical segments for the year ended 31
December 2015 is set out in Note 10 to the consolidated
financial statements.

RESULTS AND DIVIDENDS

The Group’s results for the year ended 31 December 2015
are set out in this annual report on pages 52 to 163. The
directors of the Company do not recommend the payment
of any dividend in respect of the year ended 31 December
2015.

FIVE YEARS FINANCIAL SUMMARY

A summary of the published results, assets and liabilities,
and minority interests of the Group for the last five
financial years, as extracted from the audited consolidated
financial statements is set out on page 4 of this annual
report. This summary does not form part of the audited
consolidated financial statements.

BUSINESS REVIEW

Property Development

The Group owned a property development project located
in Maoming City (the “Project”), Guangdong Province,
the PRC. The Project will be developed into a composite of
residential and commercial properties.
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During the year, the Maoming property development
project is still in construction and pre-sale stage, no
revenue attributed to the property development segment
was recorded (2014: nil). Phase 1 and 2 of the Project are
scheduled to be completed and delivered in late 2016 and
2017 with total gross floor area of approximately 173,000
square metre. Phase 1 consists of ten buildings of 28 to 32
floors each. The pre-sale has begun since November 2014.
As at 31 December 2015, residential properties and office
premises of approximately 98,000 square metre and 2,000
square metre were contracted for sales which represented
approximately 70% and 10% of the gross floor area of
residential properties and office premises to be developed
under Phase 1 and 2 of the Project respectively. The pre-
sale of commercial properties of Phase 1 and 2 of the
Project is planned to be launched in mid-2016 which
consist of approximately 12,000 square metre.

The construction of Phase 3 of the Project is scheduled
to commence in mid-2016 and will be completed in late
2018. The total gross floor area of Phase 3 of the Project is
approximately 127,000 square metre which is mainly being
residential properties consisting of nine buildings of 32
floors each.

Trading
Raw Sugar

The Group has started its business in trading of raw sugar
since late 2014. During the year, it continued to procure
raw sugars from overseas suppliers and distribute to the
customers in the PRC. Amid the decline in sugar price
in 2015 and excessive supply in the market, the Group
experience certain constraints in expanding the sugar
trading business during the year. During the year, turnover
attributed to the trading of raw sugar segment amounted
to approximately RMB7,801,000 (2014: RMB11,108,000).
In view of the recovery of raw sugar price and market
conditions, the management is optimistic on the trading of
raw sugar business in 2016 and will continue to look for
growth opportunities.
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Electronic Components

Trading of electronic component includes the distribution
of electronic related components, mobile phone modules
and imported automation products. During the year,
turnover attributed to the trading of electronic components
amounted to approximately RMB16,642,000 (2014: nil)
with a segment loss of approximately RMB345,000 was
recorded. Amid the weak non-brand mobile phone market
in the PRC, the Group planned to cease to engage in the
trading of electronic components market in the coming
year.

Principal Risks and Uncertainties

The Group’s financial condition, results of operations,
businesses and prospects would be affected by a number
of risks and uncertainties including market risk, credit
risk, and liquidity risk. The risk management policies
and practices of the Group are shown in Note 7 to the
consolidated financial statements.

Environmental Policies and Performance

The Group commits to the long term sustainability of the
environment and communities in which it operates. Acting
in an environmentally responsible manner, the Group
endeavours to comply with laws and regulations regarding
environmental protection and adopt effective measures to
achieve efficient use of resources, energy saving and waste
reduction.

The Group also commits to the principle and practice of
recycling and reducing. To help conserve the environment,
it implements green office practices such as re-deployment
of office furniture as far as possible, encourage use of
recycled paper for printing and copying, double-sided
printing and copying, reduce energy consumption by
switching off idle lightings, air conditioning and electrical
appliances.

Report of Directors
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Compliance with the Relevant Laws and Regulations
As far as the Board is aware, the Group has complied in
material respects with the relevant laws and regulations
that have a significant impact on the business and
operation of the Group. During the year, there was no
material breach of or non-compliance with the applicable
laws and regulations by the Group.

Relationship with Suppliers, Customers and other
Stakeholders

The Group understands the importance of maintaining a
good relationship with its suppliers, customers and other
stakeholders to meet its immediate and long-term goals.

During the year, there were no material and significant
dispute between the Group and its suppliers, customers
and/or other stakeholders.

Permitted Indemnity

Pursuant to the memorandum and articles of association
("Articles of Association”) of the Company, the applicable
laws and regulations, every Director shall be indemnified
and secured harmless out of the assets and profits of
the Company against all actions, costs, charges, losses,
damages and expenses which they or any of them may
incur or sustain in the execution of their duties in their
offices. Such permitted indemnity provision has been in
force throughout the year. The Company has arranged
appropriate Directors’ and officers’ liability insurance
coverage for the Directors and officers of the Group.

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT AND
INVESTMENT PROPERTIES

Details of movements in the property, plant and equipment
and investment properties of the Group during the year are
set out in Notes 19 and 20 to the consolidated financial
statements.
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ORDINARY SHARE CAPITAL AND SHARE
OPTIONS

Details of movements in the Company’s ordinary share
capital and share options are set out in Notes 30 and 33 to
the consolidated financial statements.

CONVERTIBLE REDEEMABLE PREFERENCE
SHARES

Details of the convertible redeemable preference shares
issued by the Company during the year are set out in Note
31 to the consolidated financial statements.

PRE-EMPTIVE RIGHTS

There are no provisions for pre-emptive rights under the
Company’s articles of association and the laws of the
Cayman Islands which would oblige the Company to offer
new shares of the Company on a pro rata basis to existing
shareholders.

PURCHASE, SALE OR REDEMPTION OF
LISTED SECURITIES

During the year ended 31 December 2015, neither the
Company nor any of its subsidiaries has purchased, sold or
redeemed any of the Company’s shares.

RESERVES

Details of movement in the reserves of the Group during
the year are set out in the consolidated statement of
changes in equity on pages 56 and 57 of this annual
report.

DISTRIBUTABLE RESERVES

At the end of the year, the Company did not have any
reserves available for cash/in specie dividend distribution to
shareholders of the Company.
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MAJOR CUSTOMERS AND SUPPLIERS

The information in respect of the Group's sales and
purchases attributable to the major customers and
suppliers during the year is as follows:

FEEFRHKER

Py - AR E B SRR S R R
(SR BB T

Percentage of the Group's total

HEEERAERE S
Sales Purchases
HER REEER
The largest customer SN 67% -
Five largest customers in aggregate hREFHEE 100% -
The largest supplier =AML ER - 79%
Five largest suppliers in aggregate hRMHER AL - 90%

At no time during the year, none of the Directors, their
associates or any shareholders of the Company (which, to
the best knowledge of the Directors, own more than 5%
of the Company’s share capital) had any beneficial interest
in the major customers and suppliers disclosed above.

DIRECTORS

The Directors during the year and up to the report date
are:

Executive Directors

Mr. Liu Feng (Chairman)

Mr. Chen Xian (Vice-Chairman)

Mr. Lau Sai Chung (Chief Executive Officer)

Ms. Xia Dan

Mr. Liu Zhongxiang (appointed on 30 September 2015)

Independent Non-executive Directors

Mr. Poon Lai Yin, Michael
Mr. Char Shik Ngor, Stephen
(appointed on 30 September 2015)
Ms. Li Jiansheng (appointed on 30 September 2015)
Mr. Chan Chun Fai (resigned on September 2015)
Mr. Ng Kwok Chu, Winfield (resigned on September 2015)
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Mr. Liu Feng and Mr. Lau Sai Chung shall retire from office
by rotation at the forthcoming annual general meeting
pursuant to article 87(1) of the Articles, and being eligible,
offer themselves for re-election at the annual general
meeting.

In addition, Mr. Liu Zhongxiang, Mr. Char Shik Ngor,
Stephen and Ms. Li Jiansheng shall retire from office
as Directors at the annual general meeting pursuant to
articles 86(3) of the Articles, and being eligible, offer
themselves for re-election at the annual general meeting.

BIOGRAPHIES OF DIRECTORS

Biographical details of the Directors are set out on pages
13 to 20 of this annual report.

DIRECTORS’ SERVICE CONTRACTS

Each of the executive Directors has entered into a service
agreement with the Company without fixed term. Each of
the executive Directors may receive a discretionary bonus,
the amount of which will be determined by the Board of
Directors as its absolute discretion having regard to the
operation results of the Company.

No Director of the Company proposed for re-election at
the forthcoming annual general meeting has a service
contract with the Company which is not determinable by
the Company within one year without payment other than
statutory compensation.

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN CONTRACTS

No Director of the Company had a significant beneficial
interest, either direct or indirect, in any contract of
significance to the business of the Group to which the
Company or any its subsidiaries was a party at any time
during the year ended 31 December 2015.

INDEPENDENCE CONFIRMATION

The Company has received, from each of the independent
non-executive Directors, namely Mr. Poon Lai Yin, Michael,
Mr. Char Shik Ngor, Stephen, and Ms. Li Jiansheng, an
annual confirmation of their independence pursuant to
the Listing Rules and the Company considers all of the
independent non-executive Directors are independent.
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EMOLUMENTS OF DIRECTORS AND FIVE
HIGHEST PAID INDIVIDUALS

Details of the emoluments of the Directors and the highest
paid individuals of the Group are set out in Note 18 to the
consolidated financial statements.

RELATED/CONNECTED PARTY TRANSACTION

Details of the related party and connected party
transactions are set out in Note 38 to the consolidated
financial statements.

EMOLUMENT POLICY

The emoluments of the Directors are reviewed by the
Remuneration Committee, having regard to the Company’s
operating results, individual performance and comparable
market statistics, and approved by the Board.

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS AND SHORT
POSITION IN SHARES AND UNDERLYING
SHARES OF THE COMPANY

At 31 December 2015, the interests and short positions of
the Directors or the chief executive of the Company in the
shares, underlying shares or debentures of the Company
and its associated corporations (within the meaning of the
Part XV of the SFO) (1) which are required to be notified
to the Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to
Divisions 7 and 8 of Part XV of the SFO (including interests
or short positions which they were taken or deemed
to have under such provisions of the SFO); or (2) which
are required, pursuant to section 352 of the SFO, to be
entered in the register referred to therein; or (3) which are
required, pursuant to the Model Code to be notified to the
Company and the Stock Exchange, were as follows:
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Approximate
percentage of

Number of Shares held total issued

Frs R0 8 B ordinary Shares

Personal Corporate HE BT

Interest Interest Total EERRGEF

Name of Director EENE BARER NEER |y ZHHNED

Mr. Liu Zhongxiang (Note 1) 2854 (KizE1) - 242,105,262 242,105,262 15.88

Ms. Xia Dan (Note 2) Xia DanZ+ (ff552) - 79,500,000 79,500,000 5.21

Mr. Lau Sai Chung e fusitas 148,000 - 148,000 0.01
Notes: 5T -

1. Mr. Liu Zhongxiang (“Mr. Liu”) is taken to be interested in 1. BIEMMEE (TRIEAE]) R AEATEEEE

242,105,262 shares held China Sugar Holdings Limited which
is 100% owned by Mr. Liu. By virtue of the SFO, Mr. Liu is
deemed to have interest of the Shares held by China Sugar
Holdings Limited.

2. Ms. Xia Dan (“Ms. Xia”) is taken to be interested in
79,500,000 shares held by Mega Edge International Limited
which is 100% owned by Ms. Xia. By virtue of the SFO, Ms.
Xia is deemed to have interest of the Shares held by Mega
Edge International Limited.

Save as disclosed above, at 31 December 2015, none
of the Directors and chief executive of the Company
nor their associates had any interest or short position in
shares, underlying shares or debentures of the Company
or its associated corporations which were recorded in
the register required to be kept under 352 of the SFO or
notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant
to the Model Code.

SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS

At 31 December 2015, so far as was known to the
Directors, the following persons (other than the Directors
or the chief executive of the Company) has interests or
short positions in the Shares or underlying Shares which
would fall to be disclosed to the Company under the
provisions of division 2 and 3 of Part XV of the SFO,
or which were recorded in the register of substantial
shareholder required to be kept by the Company under
section 336 of the SFO.

EBR AR AT H242,105,2620 I 5 2 100%
W o RIBESFREERY - BInEWEEES
FREZEEBRARAMFRG 2 EE -

2. Xia DanZ ([ Xiazz =+ |) #1418 & ¥ H Mega Edge
International LimitedPT#5479,500,000/% % 1
Z100% 45 o RIEFEHFRBE KD - Xiak i
R A% AMega Edge International LimitedFT#F
[f& 1 2 fE e o

PR EXPTHEEIN  RZTE—RFE+_A=+
—B ARBEFERETBTHRABURKREN
R ATER AR R S HEEBABE R
HERhHEFTREELAREESFLHE
GRPIEIS21{ERERFE Z B MBBRIBREST
AIZE G AR R] R B R Py Tl #Ean SR B
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Long position in ordinary Shares REBRZIE
Approximate
percentage
of total
Capacity and Number of issued ordinary
Substantial Shareholders nature of interest Shares held Shares
LB T
i SZERRAEE
FERR SR RERMTE BRoEA ZHABEDE
China Sugar Holdings Limited (note 1) Registered Shareholder
FEBESERR AR () AR ER 242,105,262 15.88
Mr. Zhang Wei Registered Shareholder
RIELA AR 90,000,000 5.90
Mega Edge International Limited (note 2) Registered Shareholder
Mega Edge International Limited (Ffiz£2) AR ER 79,500,000 5.21
Notes: Bt
1. China Sugar Holdings Limited, which is 100% owned by Mr. 1. FEBEXSEBERAGANTESIENLAE
Liu Zhongxiang, an executive Director. By virtue of the SFO, 100% % - RIFFHFRBERD - BT EHR
Mr. Liu is deemed to have interest of Shares held by China AEETEEEEEERATIMFERG 2 o
Sugar Holdings Limited.
2. Mega Edge International Limited, which is 100% owned by 2. #1TE EXia DanZZ A Mega Edge International
Ms. Xia Dan, an executive Director. By virtue of the SFO, Ms. Limited# B100%E m Z Hl i - BREFEH &
Xia is deemed to have interest of Shares held by Mega Edge By B & Il - Xiazz & # 18 & % BEMega Edge

International Limited. International Limited FT#5R% {7 2 5 °
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Save as disclosed above, no person had registered interest
in the share capital of the Company that was required to
be disclosed under Division 2 and 3 of the Part XV of the
SFO and the Listing Rules.

Save for the shareholders as disclosed herein, the Directors
are not aware of any persons, who, at 31 December 2015,
were entitled to exercise or control the exercise of 5%
or more of the voting power at the general meeting of
the Company and were also, a practicable matter, able to
direct or influence the management of the Company.

SHARE OPTION SCHEME

A share option scheme was adopted by the shareholders
of the Company at the annual general meeting of the
Company held on 30 November 2009 (the “Share Option
Scheme”). The Share Option Scheme will remain in force
for a period of 10 years commencing from the date of
adoption of the Share Option Scheme from 30 November
20009 (the “Date of Adoption”) (that is from 30 November
2009 to 29 November 2019). The purpose of the Share
Option Scheme is to enable the Company to grant share
options to the participants who, in the sole discretion
of the Board, have made or may make contribution to
the Group or any invested entity as well as to provide
incentives and help the Group in retaining its existing
employees and recruiting additional employees and to
provide them with a direct economics interest in attaining
the long term business objectives of the Group.

The Company may grant to eligible participants (including
any directors, non-executive directors, employees, advisors,
consultants, distributors, contractors, suppliers, agents,
customers, business partners, joint venture business
partners, promoters, service providers of any member of
the Group whom the board of directors considers, in its
sole discretion, have contributed or will contribute to the
Group) options to subscribe for shares in the Company,
subject to a maximum of 10% of the issued share
capital of the Company as at the adoption date and as
at the approval date of refreshment from time to time,
excluding for this purpose shares issued on the exercise of
options. The subscription price will be determined by the
Company’s board of directors and will not be less than the
highest of (i) the nominal value of the Company’s shares,
(i) the average of the closing price of the shares quoted on
the Main Board of the Stock Exchange on the five trading
days immediately preceding the grant date and (iii) the
closing price of the shares on the grant date.

Report of Directors
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Upon acceptance of the options, the grantee shall pay
HK$1.00 to the Company as consideration for the grant.
The acceptance of an offer of the grant of the option
must be made within 21 days from the date of grant. The
exercise period of any option granted under the Share
Option Scheme is determined by the Board upon granting
the options but in any event must not be more than 10
years commencing on the date of grant. The exercise
period of options granted were disclosed belows.

The maximum number of shares which may be issued
upon exercise of all options to be granted under the Share
Option Scheme and any other share option schemes of
the Company shall not, in the absence of Shareholders’
approval, in aggregate exceed 10% in nominal amount of
the aggregate of shares of the Company in issue as at the
date of approval of the Share Option Scheme. The Board
may seek approval by the Shareholders at general meeting
to refresh the 10% limit. However, the total number of
shares available for issue under exercise of options which
may be granted under the Share Option Scheme in these
circumstances must not exceed 10% of the number of the
issued share of the Company as at the date of approval of
the refreshment of the 10% limit.

Based on 851,980,000 shares of the Company in issue as
at the Date of Adoption, the maximum number of Shares
which may be issued upon the exercise of all the options
granted or to be granted under the Share Option Scheme
or any other share option schemes of the Company must
not, in aggregate, exceed 85,198,000 Shares, being 10%
of the Shares in issue as at the Date of Adoption. The
Option Scheme Limit has not been previously refreshed
since the Date of Adoption. The total number of shares
available for issue under the Share Option Scheme is
85,198,000 Shares, representing 5.59% of the total
number of Shares in issue as at the date of this report.

The maximum number of shares in respect of which
options may be granted under the Share Option Scheme
and any other share option schemes of the Company shall
not exceed 30% of the nominal amount of the issued
share capital of the Company from time to time and the
maximum number of shares in respect of which options
may be granted to each eligible participant shall not
exceed 1% of the issued share capital of the Company for
the time being in any 12-month period up to and including
the date of offer of the grant.
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BE_ZT—RAE+_RA=1+—HILFE RBE
BRESAERTARARZESTRER 2 BRE

aggregate granted under the Share Option Scheme during BE)FIFEWT
the year ended 31 December 2015, were as follows:
Number of share options
REHE
Exercise Held at Granted  Exercised Lapsed Held at
price 1 January during during during 31 December
Category of participants Date of grant  Exercise period per share 2015 the year the year the year 2015
R=%-1% W-E-IF
shRRH -A-H RER RER RER tZR=T-H
KEA RFA4 i kB 8 o fife XH K
HKS
i
Share options granted under the Share Option Scheme
REBRETERL CBRE
Mr. Chen Xian
(vt 18.1.2012 18.1.2012-17.1.2015 052 8,000,000 - - (3,000,000 -
Mr. Lau Sai Chung
E]ukiVid 18.1.2012 18.1.2012-17.1.2015 0.52 4,000,000 - - (4,000,000) -
Ms. Xia Dan
Xa Dan £ 18.1.2012 18.1.2012-17.1.2015 0.52 4,000,000 - - (4,000,000) -
Mr. Poon Lai Yin, Michael
RRELE 18.1.2012 18.1.2012-17.1.2005 052 500,000 - - (500,000) -
Mr. Ng Kwok Chu, Winfield
REREE 18.1.2012 18.1.2012-17.1.2015 0.52 500,000 - - (500,000) -
Mr. Chan Chun Fai
REELE 18.1.2012 18.1.2012-171.2005 052 500,000 - - (500,000 -
Employee
E8 18.1.2012 18.1.2012-17.1.2015 0.5 12,500,000 - - (12,500,000) -
Total
aft 30,000,000 - - (30,000,000) -

During the year under review, 30,000,000 share options
were lapsed and no share options were exercised and

granted.

As at 31 December 2015, there was no outstanding share

option under the Share Option Scheme.
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RIGHTS TO ACQUIRE COMPANY'’S
SECURITIES

Other than as disclosed under the sections “Share Option
Scheme” and “Directors’ Interests and Short Positions
in the Shares and Underlying Shares of the Company”
above, at no time during the year was the Company or
any of its subsidiaries, or any of its fellow subsidiaries, a
party to any arrangement to enable the Directors or chief
executives of the Company or their respective associates (as
defined in the Listing Rules) to have any right to subscribe
for securities of the Company or any of its associated
corporations as defined in the SFO or to acquire benefits
by means of acquisition of shares in, or debentures of, the
Company or any other body corporate.

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN COMPETING
BUSINESS

No Director or the management shareholders of the
Company and their respective associates (as defined
under the Listing Rules) had interests in a business
which competes or is likely to compete, either directly or
indirectly, with the businesses of the Group, as defined in
the Listing Rules, during the year and up to the date of
this report.

MANAGEMENT CONTRACTS

No contracts concerning the management and
administration of the whole or any substantial part of the
business of the Company were entered into or existed
during the year.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE

In the opinion of the directors of the Company, the
Company has complied throughout the year ended 31
December 2015 with the Corporate Governance Code as
set out in Appendix 14 of the Listing Rules. Details of the
Company’'s corporate governance practices are set out in
the “Corporate Governance Report” section of this annual
report.
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PUBLIC FLOAT

Based on information that is publicly available to the
Company and within the knowledge or its Directors as
at the date of this report, the Company has maintained
sufficient public float as required under the Listing Rules.

AUDIT COMMITTEE

The Company established an audit committee with written
terms of reference in compliance with the requirements
as set out in the Listing Rules for the purposes of
reviewing and supervising the financial reporting process
and internal controls of the Group. The audit committee
currently comprises Mr. Poon Lai Yin, Michael (Chairman),
Mr. Char Shik Ngor, Stephen and Ms. Li Jiansheng. The
audit committee has reviewed and discussed with the
management and the external auditors the financial
reporting matters including the annual results for the year
ended 31 December 2015.

AUDITORS

A resolution for the re-appointment of SHINEWING (HK)
CPA Limited as auditors of the Company will be proposed
at the forthcoming annual general meeting of the
Company.

On Behalf of the Board

Liu Feng
Chairman

Hong Kong, 29 March 2016
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Independent Auditor’s Report
VR RGeS

faikPAa

Shine‘ZOan

SHINEWING (HK) CPA Limited
43/F, Lee Garden One

33 Hysan Avenue

Causeway Bay, Hong Kong

TO THE MEMBERS OF
CHINA UPTOWN GROUP COMPANY LIMITED
(incorporated in the Cayman Islands with limited liability)

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of
China Uptown Group Company Limited (the “Company”)
and its subsidiaries (hereinafter collectively referred to as
the “Group”) set out on pages 52 to 163, which comprise
the consolidated statement of financial position as at 31
December 2015, and the consolidated statement of profit
or loss, consolidated statement of profit or loss and other
comprehensive income, consolidated statement of changes
in equity and consolidated statement of cash flows for the
year then ended, and a summary of significant accounting
policies and other explanatory information.

DIRECTORS’ RESPONSIBILITY FOR THE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The directors of the Company are responsible for the
preparation of consolidated financial statements that
give a true and fair view in accordance with Hong Kong
Financial Reporting Standards issued by the Hong Kong
Institute of Certified Public Accountants and the disclosure
requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance,
and for such internal control as the directors determine
is necessary to enable the preparation of consolidated
financial statements that are free from material
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

AUDITOR'S RESPONSIBILITY

Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these
consolidated financial statements based on our audit
and to report our opinion solely to you, as a body, in
accordance with our agreed terms of engagement, and for
no other purpose. We do not assume responsibility towards
or accept liability to any other person for the contents of
this report. We conducted our audit in accordance with
Hong Kong Standards on Auditing issued by the Hong
Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants. Those
standards require that we comply with ethical requirements
and plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable
assurance about whether the consolidated financial
statements are free from material misstatement.
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An audit involves performing procedures to obtain
audit evidence about the amounts and disclosures in
the consolidated financial statements. The procedures
selected depend on the auditor’s judgement, including
the assessment of the risks of material misstatement
of the consolidated financial statements, whether due
to fraud or error. In making those risk assessments, the
auditor considers internal control relevant to the entity’s
preparation of consolidated financial statements that give
a true and fair view in order to design audit procedures
that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the
purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness
of the entity’s internal control. An audit also includes
evaluating the appropriateness of accounting policies used
and the reasonableness of accounting estimates made by
the directors, as well as evaluating the overall presentation
of the consolidated financial statements.

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is
sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our audit
opinion.

OPINION

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give
a true and fair view of the financial position of the Group
as at 31 December 2015, and of its financial performance
and cash flows for the year then ended in accordance
with Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards and have
been properly prepared in compliance with the disclosure
requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.

SHINEWING (HK) CPA Limited
Certified Public Accountants

Pang Wai Hang

Practising Certificate Number: P05044

Hong Kong
29 March 2016

Independent Auditor’s Report
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Consolidated Statement of Profit or Loss
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For the year ended 31 December 2015 HE =&

T = b =

2015 2014
NOTES RMB'000 RMB’000
Bk AR®T R ARETT
(Restated)
(83)
Continuing operations BERS R
Turnover B 9 7,801 11,108
Cost of sales SHER AR (7,591) (10,890)
Gross profit EF 210 218
Other operating income Hip & B A 9 707 224
Gain on bargain purchase HERE W 34 - 2,822
Selling and distribution costs $HE N o A (11,301) (3,725)
Administrative expenses THER (25,127) (14,775)
Finance costs B &Rk 2R 1 (244) (227)
Loss before tax BRI RIEE (35,755) (15,463)
Income tax expense FEfs 12 (1) (28)
Loss for the year from continuing operations ENEEREERER (35,756) (15,491)
Discontinued operations BRIEREER
(Loss) profit for the year from FRERIEEER
discontinued operations (B18) %7 13 (345) 65,410
(Loss) profit for the year FR (B1R) %5F 14 (36,101) 49,919
(Loss) profit for the year attributable to owners AABIZHEANELER
of the Company (B548) A
— from continuing operations — RERBELEER (33,607) (14,988)
— from discontinued operations — KA R FREHETE (176) 65,180
(Loss) profit for the year attributable to owners KARZHBE AELEA
of the Company (B518) %7 (33,783) 50,192
(Loss) profit for the year attributable JEIR A RS FE (R E N
to non-controlling interests (1) %5
— from continuing operations — RAHEREER (2,149) (503)
— from discontinued operations — REDR R (169) 230
Loss for the year attributable to JEf MRS LS
non-controlling interests ERER (2,318) (273)
(36,101) 49,919
(Loss) earnings per share % (EB18) &2 16
From continuing and RABERCEEREN
discontinued operations DR Rk sz
Basic HAK RMB(3.02) cents RMB5.33 cents
AR¥(3.02)2 AR#533%
Diluted 5 RMB(3.02) cents RMB3.76 cents
AK#(3.02)2 AR%3.767
From continuing operations REFBREEY
Basic HAR RMB(3.00) cents  RMB(1.59) cents
AK¥B.002  ARB(159H
Diluted g RMB(3.00) cents  RMB(1.59) cents

AR®(3.000%

ARE(1.597
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Consolidated Statement of Profit or Loss and Other Comprehensive Income

meEaRkEtAEERER

For the year ended 31 December 2015 HE T —RAF+-_A=+—HILFE

2015 2014
—E-HF —ZT—mEF
RMB’000 RMB’'000
ARETT ARETTT
(Restated)
(&%)
(Loss) profit for the year FA (EE) mfl (36,101) 49,919
Other comprehensive (expense) income Efzm () Was
Items that may be reclassified HENEHIEE
subsequently to profit or loss: BH2EE
Exchange differences arising on translation of IR INE FE 75 B TS R R
financial statements of foreign operations: EAECIERZ%
— Exchange (loss) gain arising during the year ~— — FREAMNER (E518) K (2,117) 762
— Reclassification of cumulative translation — R EHERLE
reserve upon disposal of subsidiaries to HB AR EHHEER
profit or loss - (32,854)
Other comprehensive expense for the year FREMEESH (2,117) (32,092)
Total comprehensive (expense) income FAZE () Ke=ia
for the year (38,218) 17,827
Total comprehensive (expense) income ATEGEFEAZE (ZH)
for the year attributable to: Wk 4B %8 -
Owners of the Company RRElZ BB A (35,900) 18,100
Non-controlling interests FERE M (2,318) (273)
(38,218) 17,827
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Consolidated Statement of Financial Position

e P HIR R

As at 31 December 2015 R—E—HRF+-_HA=+—H

2015 2014
—E-RF —T0OF
NOTES RMB’'000 RMB’000
Mt ARETRT ARETT
Non-current assets FREBEE
Property, plant and equipment M= RENERE 19 19,144 17,277
Available-for-sale investments B ERE 21 - =
19,144 17,277
Current assets REBEE
Inventories FE 22 - =
Properties under development TEREYZE 23 1,441,992 1,065,571
Trade, bills and other receivables Z5 ZENEMEWIUE 24 56,944 22,667
Held-for-trading investments RIERZRBZRE 25 42 50
Income tax recoverable EERES 32,980 3,294
Restricted bank deposit BIRSIBRITIER 26 7.651 7,652
Bank balances and cash RITHEFRIRS® 27/ 86,754 231,700
1,626,363 1,330,934
Assets classified as held for sale SR EIEERE 2 EBE 13 11,303 =
1,637,666 1,330,934
Current liabilities REAE
Trade and other payables B 5 kEAMERFIA 28 659,511 64,227
Consideration payable ERRE 34 19,042 50,000
Dividend payables FERTAR B - S
Secured bank borrowings BEEREITER 29 245,079 252,415
923,632 400,796
Liabilities associated with assets classified BRENHEABELEY
as held for sale EEAE 13 13,654 -
937,286 400,796
Net current assets TENEEREE 700,380 930,138
Total assets less current liabilities BEERREAE 719,524 947,415
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Consolidated Statement of Financial Position

e PRI R

As at 31 December 2015 R-_ZE—HRF+-_HA=+—H

2015 2014
—E-HF —TMOF
NOTES RMB’000 RMB’000
BEE ARBTR ARETT
Capital and reserves BEARE #E
Ordinary share capital A A AN 30 136,015 88,424
Convertible redeemable A EE A A] BB BB ST AR
preference shares 31 - 152,006
Reserves HE 364,172 244,956
Equity attributable to owners RARIZHERA AL
of the Company 500,187 485,386
Non-controlling interests FEVE I 1 M 2 22,176 24,494
Total equity R 522,363 509,880
Non-current liabilities FRBEE
Secured bank borrowings AEEEITER 29 120,000 360,000
Deferred taxation IEIEFTTE 32 77,161 77,535
197,161 1378585
719,524 947,415
The consolidated financial statements on pages 52 to 163 FER2E13EZMEMBHEN_E—RF=
were approved and authorised for issue by the board of AZThBEEEgERKERE - XHT
directors on 29 March 2016 and are signed on its behalf HIEFKKEE -
by:
Liu Feng Lau Sai Chung
2lse 2ttt £
Director Director
EF BF
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Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity

For the year ended 31 December 2015 HE —T—AF+-_A=+—HILFE

Attributable to owners of the Company

ANTAZER B RS
Convertible
Ordinary redeemable Share  Exchange Non-
share Share  preference  Capital ~ options translation General  Accumulated controlling
capital  premium shares  reserve  reserve reserve reserve losses Total interests Total
&k Finin
EERRE ROEE TREELR AARG BRERE  AERE  -RER ZiFR a5 B L]
RMB'000  RMB'000 RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000  RMB'000
ARETT ARBTT ARETT ARETR ARETT ARETR ARETr ARETr ARETR ARETR ARETR
(Note (a)) (Note (b))
(e (FHb)
At 1 January 2014 R=E-R%-5-A 88424 411984 152,006 13841 3,743 (7.174) 5,887 (167,572) 501,139 (4328 496,811
Profit for the year Emgh = - - - - - - 50,192 50,192 @) 49919
Other comprehensive income for the year  £REH2ENE
~ Exchange differences arising on - REENEET
translation of financial statements BBREEEL
of foreign operations ExZR - - - - - 762 - - 762 2 762
- Redlassification of cumulative translation ~ — ZEHAE RENHE
reserve upon disposal of subsidiaries HBRARENAEE
to profit or oss (Note 35) & (M335) - - - - - (8% = - (85 - (8%
- - - - - (32,092) - - (32,092) - (32,092)
Total comprehensive income for the year ~ FR2ERZLE - - - - - (32,09) - 50,192 18,100 @n) 1187
Dividend BRE = & - = a i a (33,853) (33,853) - (33,853)
Recognised upon acquisiion of subsidiaries  WEKBAFEES
(Note 34) (zk34) - - - - - - - - - 29,095 29,095
Transfer upon disposal of a subsidiary HERBATRER - - - (13841) - < (5,887) 19,728 - = =
At 31 December 2014 RZE-RF+-A=1-H 88424 411,984 152,006 - 3,783 (39,266) - (131,505) 485,386 24,494 509,830
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Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity
mEEREEX

For the year ended 31 December 2015 HE T —RAF+-_A=+—HILFE

Attributable to owners of the Company

ANz REAELRE
Convertible
Ordinary redeemable Share  Exchange Non-
share Share  preference  Capital  options translation General  Accumulated controlling
capital  premium shares  reserve  reserve reserve reserve losses Total interests Total
&k Finin
EERRA ROEE TREELR AARG BRERE  4ERE  -HER ZiFR a5 B a5
RMB'000  RMB'000 RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB000 RMB'000 RMB'000  RMB'000
ARETT ARETT ARETT ARETT ARETT ARETR ARETr ARBTR ARETR ARETR ARETR
(Note (a)) (Note (b))
(Ma) (FHb))

At 1 January 2015 W-E-1%-5-H 88424 411,984 152,006 - 3743 (39,266) - (131,505 485,386 24,494 509,880

Loss for the year ERER - - - - - - - (33783)  (33783) (2318)  (36,101)

Other comprehensive expense EREMRERE

for the year
- Exchange differences arising on - R EEE
translation of financial statements BRBREL
of foreign operations EXZEE - - - - - 1) - - @117 - )
Total comprehensive expense FRIERRAR
for the year - - - - - 217 - (33,783) (35,900) (2318)  (38218)
Issue of shares upon placing (Note 30) ~ E&&%T 2R (H330) 15752 36073 - - - - - - 5185 - 51805
Transaction costs attributable to issue ~ BEEE£RTZ
of shares upon placing ROERZRA - (1,129) - - - - - - (1,129) - (1,129)
Conversion of convertible redeemable ~ ERTERTREELR
preference shares (Notes 30 and 31) (HrE30%31) 31839 120167 (152,006) - - - - - - - -

Lapse of share options (Note 33) BRERN (F3H33) - - - - (3,743) - - 3,743 - - -

At 31 December 2015 W-E-EE+-A=1-H 136,015 567,100 - - - (#1,383) - (161,545) 500,187 2176 522,363

Notes: BT -

@) The capital reserve represents the effect of the reorganisation (a) CUNTECEERIE S EH (AR RIE M AKX
of the Group through which the Company became the ARBZARBRERRZERAR) Ri§—RH
holding company of all group companies comprising BRRIZEREFENCAELEZZE - N_F
the Group and capitalisation of shareholders’ loans by a —MOFE+ZA++H BEXAREREESEWE
subsidiary. On 17 December 2014, the capital reserve was NARHEREREBRBTH -
transferred to retained earnings upon disposal of respective
subsidiaries.

(b) As stipulated by regulations in the People’s Republic of China (b) R EAREMBE ([FE]) EZRET - FLEEH

(the "PRC"), certain subsidiaries in the PRC are required to
appropriate 10% of their after-tax profit (after offsetting prior
year losses) to a general reserve fund until the balance of the
fund reaches 50% of its registered capital and thereafter any
further appropriation is optional. The general reserve fund
can be utilised to offset prior year losses, or for conversion
into registered capital on the condition that the general
reserve fund shall be maintained at a minimum of 25% of
the registered capital after such utilisation. On 17 December
2014, the general reserve was transferred to retained
earnings upon disposal of respective subsidiaries.

MM E AR BIEERRREN (REHBEFE
ZEE) REL1I0%IA—RFHE - BEXRE
BoEZHFTMER 250% - i H & < BRI
AEEEL - —REFEHES I AFEEBEFELZ
BE ABEEMER  EFEELZEER
& —REHSEDDEFREMES25%
KFE -RZEBE—MNF+_A++H " E=CEE
B R B &R 8 R R ER ERE AT o

‘i:.rf,;‘-ug.\'
Pt
ey
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Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows

For the year ended 31 December 2015 HE —T—AF+-_A=+—HILFE

2015 2014
—E-HF —ZT-mEF
RMB’000 RMB’'000
ARETT ARBTFT
(Restated)
(&%)
OPERATING ACTIVITIES KR
Loss before tax from continuing operations RARERE I 2RI EE (35,755) (15,463)
(Loss) profit before tax from discontinued KE DR AL ZTE 7 R A
operation (E18) %A (345) 67,136
(36,100) 51,673
Adjustments for: FEIFE
Amortisation of prepaid lease payments TREFBTFRIE 2 # Y - 6
Change in fair value of held-for-trading BIERSBABRZIKEZ
investments NI (EEE) 1 13
Depreciation of property, plant and ME - BENMERETE
equipment 732 865
Finance costs BA RSk 7N 244 227
Gain on disposal of subsidiaries HERMB AR Z W - (61,763)
Gain on bargain purchase ZHEEE 2 ES - (2,822)
Interest income FBUA (707) (3,943)
Reversal of impairment loss recognised in Z S EWIBE R
respect of trade receivables BB E e R (O] - (1,098)
Reversal of impairment loss recognised in FEERRZREREREKD
respect of inventories - (386)
Operating cash flows before movements in BRI EX TS RE
working capital (35,820) (17,228)
Decrease in inventories FTER D - 455
Increase in properties under development e AN (318,890) (89,313)
Increase in trade, bills and 25 FEERHEA
other receivables JrE W RIR I N (44,336) (13,767)
Increase in trade and other payables B 5 H th B 3R IE I 40 607,182 30,200
Cash from (used in) operations BT TS (BFTA) 2IREn 208,136 (89,653)
PRC Enterprise Income Tax paid BT B EFEH (14,547) (296)
PRC Land Appreciation Tax paid B~ A B £ s S R (15,139) (3,294)
NET CASH FROM (USED IN) OPERATING ST EIFTE (FrA) e 3%
ACTIVITIES 178,450 (93,243)
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Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows

GERTRER

For the year ended 31 December 2015 HE T —RAF+-_A=+—HILFE

2015 2014
—E2-HF —T—mF
NOTES RMB’'000 RMB’000
B 5T AR¥T T ARETIT
(Restated)
(&751))
INVESTING ACTIVITIES KREES
Dividend paid ERRE (34,654) =
Repayment of consideration payable EBERMRE (33,058) =
Purchase of property, plant and BEYHE - BEKEE
equipment (1,601) (111)
Interest received 2 FI 5 707 3,943
Decrease in restricted bank deposit PR Il 8R 1 T OB 2 1 =
Net cash inflow from disposal of HERBARZ
subsidiaries WEemAFRE 35 - 193,433
Net cash outflow from acquisition of WREHTB AR Z
subsidiaries REmH FE 34 - (8,995)
NET CASH (USED IN) FROM RETE (FTA) s
INVESTING ACTIVITIES e (68,605) 188,270
FINANCING ACTIVITIES 7l E B
Repayment of bank borrowings ERIBITERK (253,432) (180,084)
Interest paid EATFE (57,775) (19,085)
Transaction costs attributable to issue SEBIREEEITZ
of shares upon placing I& 10 R Z KA (1,124) =
Issue of shares upon placing HEIERETZIRG 51,825 =
New borrowings raised HEREE 5,692 156,354
NET CASH USED IN RMETE AR ST
FINANCING ACTIVITIES (254,814) (42,815)
NET (DECREASE) INCREASE IN CASH RERREEEYZ
AND CASH EQUIVALENTS (R2) EhnFEEE (144,969) 52,212
EFFECT ON FOREIGN EXCHANGE Exgs oo
RATE CHANGES 749 475
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS RENZEESRBESEEY
AT THE BEGINNING OF THE YEAR 231,700 179,013
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS REARZEHSRRESEEY
AT THE END OF THE YEAR 87,480 231,700
Represented by: H g :
Bank balances and cash IRTTHEFRIRS® 86,754 231,700
Bank balances and cash included IRTTEFRIRBE
in asset held for sale BEGECEE 13 726 .
87,480 233 7/1e10)

<J' I

-
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e P BBmRME

For the year ended 31 December 2015 HE —T—AF+-_A=+—HILFE

1. GENERAL

China Uptown Group Company Limited (the “Company”)
was incorporated in the Cayman Islands as an exempted
company with limited liability. The shares of the Company
are listed on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange of
Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock Exchange”).

The addresses of the registered office and principal
place of business of the Company are disclosed in the
“Corporate Information” section to the annual report.

Other than the subsidiaries established in the People’s
Republic of China (the “PRC") whose functional currency
is Renminbi (“RMB"), the functional currency of the
Company and the remaining subsidiaries are Hong Kong
dollars (“HK$").

The Group adopted RMB as its presentation currency as
the directors of the Company consider that the major
operations are in the PRC and it is appropriate to present
the consolidated financial statements in RMB.

The principal activity of the Company is investment holding
and the principal activities of its subsidiaries are set out in
note 39.

2. APPLICATION OF NEW AND REVISED
HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS (“HKFRSs")

In the current year, the Group has applied the following
amendments to HKFRSs issued by the Hong Kong Institute
of Certified Public Accountants (the “HKICPA").
Amendments to HKFRSs Annual Improvements to
HKFRSs 2010 - 2012 Cycle
Annual Improvements to
HKFRSs 2011 - 2013 Cycle
Defined Benefit Plans:
Employee Contributions

Amendments to HKFRSs

Amendments to HKAS 19

1. —RER

FE I EEARAR ([ARATF]) RS
S FREERAF o AAFRD

ERMARSHHARAT (TBZFT]) TR L
ﬁo

ARRZAMPERNETIBLEXMUIERAF
Bz [REVER] —HRE -

BREREARIME ([FE]) KL z2HBRA
ZHMREBER/ARE [ARK]) 5b ARFR
HRTHBAR <R EE LB (TB%]) -

HRARREEFRARAF T EETRLER
BEARARB2INGSWBHRRTIBIRE -
HAEERBARBEREZINES -

ARAZEBESRREER - MEH BRG]
ZEBERBEINENFE39 ©

A REEIEEMB®RE
A ([ERMBREED )

gl

RAEE  AEEDEATHESRHMAS
((EBEHARE])) B2 EIELT B AN SR
EEITR

BEMBHRELEA BHEMBREEN _T-TFE

BET —E - ERE s FENE
EANMBHREENz  BAVBRESEN T ——FF
EH] T =FEBRFEYE

BRGHENF18Re RERFIEE  BEHX
{E=]
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e PR wRME

For the year ended 31 December 2015 HZEZ—E—HAF+-_A=+—HIFE

2. APPLICATION OF NEW AND REVISED
HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS (“HKFRSs") (Continued)

Annual Improvements to HKFRSs 2010 - 2012 Cycle

The Annual Improvements to HKFRSs 2010 — 2012 Cycle
include a number of amendments to various HKFRSs,
which are summarised below.

The amendments to HKFRS 2 (i) change the definitions
of ‘vesting condition’ and 'market condition’; and (ii)
add definitions for ‘performance condition’ and ‘service
condition” which were previously included within the
definition of ‘vesting condition’. The amendments to
HKFRS 2 are effective for share-based payment transactions
for which the grant date is on or after 1 July 2014.

The amendments to HKFRS 3 clarify that contingent
consideration that is classified as an asset or a liability
should be measured at fair value at each reporting date,
irrespective of whether the contingent consideration is a
financial instrument within the scope of HKFRS 9 or HKAS
39 or a non-financial asset or liability. Changes in fair value
(other than measurement period adjustments) should be
recognised in profit and loss. The amendments to HKFRS
3 are effective for business combinations for which the
acquisition date is on or after 1 July 2014.

The amendments to HKFRS 8 (i) require an entity to
disclose the judgements made by management in applying
the aggregation criteria to operating segments, including a
description of the operating segments aggregated and the
economic indicators assessed in determining whether the
operating segments have ‘similar economic characteristics’;
and (ii) clarify that a reconciliation of the total of the
reportable segments’ assets to the entity’s assets should
only be provided if the segment assets are regularly
provided to the chief operating decision-maker.

2. BERAHNIREBIEEVBRE
ZR ([HRMBHREED ) (2)

BRMBEBERA _ST-SFE_FT-—_F8
Hiz FEBGE

BEEMEREEN TS FE T —_FiR
HrFENERTEERE TEBY KRS ER
ZZIEER] T o

EBT B IMEERNE 25 2 AERT ()4 [ 57 B 51+ |
Ko [ T35 1544 ZE%EVEWIKE& R (ipA T5R
BT R IRBIEE] 2E& - BRAEEBE
BRERTBBIEN] <cEER - BAMBREE
AIE2F 2 BT ERNREASRE_—T— Eﬁt
A—BR2BRABRMND SERZ RS

FEVBRELERNEIR2ETEFIRREE
FEREZHIAREERRNERE AR 2 A FE
AFE MAmZIAREBERT —HBREEY
BHREEAEIRXELS u+/EE'J%39?ﬁZi%EE
TE /- RIEMEENAE - 2 FEE
B (GrEHERABRIN) BREBEZTER - T8
M HmEERNEIRZETTERRNEBEENE=
E-—MELA—BHZERZEBSH -

FRV B MEELESR ZERI(VREERAM
MEDHEAEFRTERHREEREFL
i BEREEERLESHEE AR HUZE
BRI KAFGESEZEED MREERER
ZHA G RNVERAUEBMAONEELELER
BEZHERENEHRAIBEEERARERMTS
MEERTRM -

<J' I

-
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For the year ended 31 December 2015 HE —T—AF+-_A=+—HILFE

2. APPLICATION OF NEW AND REVISED
HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS (“HKFRSs") (Continued)

Annual Improvements to HKFRSs 2010 - 2012 Cycle
(Continued)

The amendments to the basis for conclusions of HKFRS
13 clarify that the issue of HKFRS 13 and consequential
amendments to HKAS 39 and HKFRS 9 did not remove the
ability to measure short-term receivables and payables with
no stated interest rate at their invoice amounts without
discounting, if the effect of discounting is immaterial.

The amendments to HKAS 16 and HKAS 38 remove
perceived inconsistencies in the accounting for
accumulated depreciation/amortisation when an item of
property, plant and equipment or an intangible asset is
revalued. The amended standards clarify that the gross
carrying amount is adjusted in a manner consistent with
the revaluation of the carrying amount of the asset
and that accumulated depreciation/amortisation is the
difference between the gross carrying amount and the
carrying amount after taking into account accumulated
impairment losses.

The amendments to HKAS 24 clarify that a management
entity providing key management personnel services to a
reporting entity is a related party of the reporting entity.
Consequently, the reporting entity should disclose as
related party transactions the amounts incurred for the
service paid or payable to the management entity for the
provision of key management personnel services. However,
disclosure of the components of such compensation is not
required.

The directors of the Company consider that the application
of the amendments to HKFRSs 2010-2012 Cycle has had
no material impact in the Group’s consolidated financial
statements.

2. BEHAHNIREBIEEVBRE
q &)

BRMBEBERN _ZT-SFE_FT-—_F8
M2 FEBGE (&)

FRMBHRERNB 1R ERELEZIEFE
B RHERBMBREEMNFIRUARETES
AHERIEISR R BB ME LR LR RE
BRIV EREAENERS BRI EIIFH X
AYERE (MR ELTEKR) 2B HEK
KEMRIEZEEN ©

TR e £ E 165 R EFE G5t ERIFE385E
ZIEFTREBERYE  BEMRBEEENELE
ESMEERRFTE #EZ S EENE
PABERZ A —HZ R - KEFTEAES AR
HEANEEGFEEREE R A ELH
B MBFFE EHAAEREERLT R
REPREBBRR ZREEMERZEZHE

i

FEEFEUNE24RZEFES ME2RE
BREHIZEEABRBZERERDZER
BERCBEAL - At Z2HRERAKE
HEBZEBABRBEMENHENTZERE
BeRBELE 2SR WEAEBALRSIELE
B o AT BEMERDRBARKE

AKABEERE EREEUNBREED 2
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For the year ended 31 December 2015 HE T —RAF+-_A=+—HILFE

2. APPLICATION OF NEW AND REVISED
HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS (“HKFRSs") (Continued)

Annual Improvements to HKFRSs 2011 - 2013 Cycle

The Annual Improvements to HKFRSs 2011 — 2013 Cycle
include a number of amendments to various HKFRSs,
which are summarised below.

The amendments to HKFRS 3 clarify that the standard does
not apply to the accounting for the formation of all types
of joint arrangement in the financial statements of the
joint arrangement itself.

The amendments to HKFRS 13 clarify that the scope of
the portfolio exception for measuring the fair value of a
group of financial assets and financial liabilities on a net
basis includes all contracts that are within the scope of,
and accounted for in accordance with, HKAS 39 or HKFRS
9, even if those contracts do not meet the definitions of
financial assets or financial liabilities within HKAS 32.

The amendments to HKAS 40 clarify that HKAS 40 and
HKFRS 3 are not mutually exclusive and application of
both standards may be required. Consequently, an entity
acquiring investment property must determine whether:

(a) the property meets the definition of investment
property in terms of HKAS 40; and

(b) the transaction meets the definition of a business
combination under HKFRS 3.

The amendments are applied prospectively. The directors
of the Company consider that the application of the
amendments to HKFRSs 2011 — 2013 Cycle has had no
material impact in the Group’s consolidated financial
statements.

2. ERANIRKEIEEVBRSE
ZA ([ERMBHREED ) (#)

BRMBEBERN T —FE2_FT—=F58
Mz FEBGE

ERMBREEN T ——F2 T —=FH
HrFERERRBEE TEAMBHRE LR

ZZBIEE] - AR o

BRI REEAEIRZ ETHE - RAIT
THEARSAS BR UM BH/E AR
B A -

ERMBREENFI1IR BT EFTZEAE
(BRFEEEAE-HeREERERA
BEZRFEI) BREATL ST LR FE395
BN B RELEYNEIRBELRBREET ST
FERIE ISR A BB W TSI E LERIFE TR AHAAZ P
BEH AMEZEANANTEEEG LR
FERNHHTMEEXTHEBEZIER) °
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2. APPLICATION OF NEW AND REVISED
HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS (“HKFRSs") (Continued)

Amendments to HKAS 19 Defined Benefit Plans -
Employee Contributions

The amendments to HKAS 19 simplify the accounting for
contributions that are independent of the number of years
of employee service, for example, employee contributions
that are calculated according to a fixed percentage of
salary. Specifically, contributions that are linked to services
are attributed to periods of services as a negative benefit.
The amendments to HKAS 19 specifies that such negative
benefit are attributed in the same way as the gross
benefit, i.e. attribute to periods of services under the plan’s
contribution formula or on a straight-line basis.

Besides, the amendments also states that if the
contributions are independent of the number of years of
employee service, such contributions may be recognised as
a reduction of the service cost as they fall due.

The amendments to HKAS 19 will become effective for
annual periods beginning on or after 1 July 2014 with
early application permitted.

The directors of the Company consider that the application
of the amendments to HKAS 19 Defined Benefit Plans —
Employee Contributions has had no material impact in the
Group’s consolidated financial statements.
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2. APPLICATION OF NEW AND REVISED
HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS (“HKFRSs") (Continued)

New and revised HKFRSs issued but not yet effective

The Group has not early applied the following new and
revised HKFRSs that have been issued but are not yet
effective:

HKFRS 9 (2014) Financial Instruments?

HKFRS 15 Revenue from Contracts with
Customers?

Amendments to HKFRSs Annual Improvements to

HKFRSs 2012 - 2014 Cycle!

Disclosure Initiative'
Clarification of Acceptable Methods

Amendments to HKAS 1
Amendments to HKAS 16

and HKAS 38 of Depreciation and Amortisation’
Amendments to HKAS 16 Agriculture: Bearer Plants'
and HKAS 41

Amendments to HKAS 27 Equity Method in Separate
Financial Statements'

Sale or Contribution of Assets
between an Investor and its
Associate or Joint Venture?

Investment Entities: Applying the

Consolidation Exception'

Amendments to HKFRS 10
and HKAS 28

Amendments to HKFRS 10,
HKFRS 12 and HKAS 28
Amendments to HKFRS 11 Accounting for Acquisitions of
Interests in Joint Operations'

1 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January
2016.

2 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January
2018.

3 Effective date not yet been determined.

The directors of the Company anticipate that, except as
described below, the application of other new and revised
HKFRSs will have no material impact on the results and the
financial position of the Group.
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2. APPLICATION OF NEW AND REVISED
HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS (“HKFRSs") (Continued)

HKFRS 9 (2014) Financial Instruments

HKFRS 9 issued in 2009 introduces new requirements
for the classification and measurement of financial
assets. HKFRS 9 was amended in 2010 and includes the
requirements for the classification and measurement of
financial liabilities and for derecognition. In 2013, HKFRS
9 was further amended to bring into effect a substantial
overhaul of hedge accounting that will allow entities
to better reflect their risk management activities in the
financial statements. A finalised version of HKFRS 9 was
issued in 2014 to incorporate all the requirements of
HKFRS 9 that were issued in previous years with limited
amendments to the classification and measurement by
introducing a “fair value through other comprehensive
income” (“FVTOCI"”) measurement category for certain
financial assets. The finalised version of HKFRS 9 also
introduces an “expected credit loss” model for impairment
assessments.

Key requirements of HKFRS 9 (2014) are described as
follows:

o All recognised financial assets that are within
the scope of HKAS 39 Financial Instruments:
Recognition and Measurement to be subsequently
measured at amortised cost or fair value.
Specifically, debt investments that are held within
a business model whose objective is to collect the
contractual cash flows, and that have contractual
cash flows that are solely payments of principal
and interest on the principal outstanding are
generally measured at amortised cost at the end
of subsequent reporting periods. Debt instruments
that are held within a business model whose
objective is achieved both by collecting contractual
cash flows and selling financial assets, and that
have contractual terms of the financial asset give
rise on specified dates to cash flows that are solely
payments of principal and interest on the principal
amount outstanding, are measured at FVTOCI. All
other debt investments and equity investments
are measured at their fair values at the end of
subsequent reporting periods. In addition, under
HKFRS 9 (2014), entities may make an irrevocable
election to present subsequent changes in the fair
value of an equity investment (that is not held for
trading) in other comprehensive income, with only
dividend income generally recognised in profit or
loss.

2. EAHIREETEREMBRE
(& i

EBYBHEENFER (ZF—NF) EWMITA

R-ZZBTBNFHEM B BY B HREERFEINR S|
AEBEEDBRTEZHATE - BEVBR
FRERNFIRN —T—TFEEF] YBEEEMH
DERFECHMABAIRRIERR AT - K=
T——F  FEUBHRELERBIREE—FE
Rl ARBHIHREIHACEEMER] - (LMK
FEERNUEHRRTEERREARERLS -
ERUBRELFSR 2« ZBRRAR T —
MERM  ERETEREESIA ([RAF¥E
PARMEEmWKE ] BAFEFAEMEEK
7)) ZETEBERBRTE - R BEFEFrEM
FEVBRELRNFEIR 2 2HHE - BHERH
DERFTEFELERER - BAMBHRE LR
FI5R 2 RN BER G SIA [FBHEE
BiE ] B e

EREMBREENFIR (ZT—WF) 2+ &
MES AT

e MABRASHEANFIOREHMTE :
AL EXLEAZCEREREER
BRYBALMBHK AL N FENE - A8
mE - BHNREIRENEASREZFS
BARAFE2BEHRRE  RAaHWBASR
BEREEASRHABELASMEZ
BEBRE - —RNER S HIRIREH
AAFE - BRNEABESNEREESRE
AEtEsREEMEXRBREZHRA
NEAEZEBIA  REMEEESHN
FRFREEANMELEZRESRER
X RAREERRKZ AN MME - H5t
ENRAFEFAEMCEEKE - A
HibERRERERIREDGRERBRE
HIRIR N FEFTE - o RIBEFEY
BIRERERFE SR (ZT—UF) - BEEA[
R A HE 2 &2 - UREMmEEK
AZFERIRE (WIFFREEEE) 1F
BzEREE RAEKREWA-RNE



China Uptown Group Company Limited F1[E Fi5E B AR /A7 Annual Report 2015 3R

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e PR wRME

For the year ended 31 December 2015 HZEZ—E—HAF+-_A=+—HIFE

APPLICATION OF NEW AND REVISED
HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS (“HKFRSs") (Continued)

HKFRS 9 (2014) Financial Instruments (Continued)

With regard to the measurement of financial
liabilities designated as at fair value through profit
or loss, HKFRS 9 (2014) requires that the amount of
change in the fair value of the financial liability that
is attributable to changes in the credit risk of that
liability is presented in other comprehensive income,
unless the recognition of the effects of changes
in the liability’s credit risk in other comprehensive
income would create or enlarge an accounting
mismatch in profit or loss. Changes in fair value of
financial liabilities attributable to changes in the
financial liabilities” credit risk are not subsequently
reclassified to profit or loss. Under HKAS 39, the
entire amount of the change in the fair value of the
financial liability designated as fair value through
profit or loss was presented in profit or loss.

In the aspect of impairment assessments, the
impairment requirements relating to the accounting
for an entity’s expected credit losses on its financial
assets and commitments to extend credit were
added. Those requirements eliminate the threshold
that was in HKAS 39 for the recognition of credit
losses. Under the impairment approach in HKFRS 9
(2014) it is no longer necessary for a credit event to
have occurred before credit losses are recognised.
Instead, expected credit losses and changes in those
expected credit losses should always be accounted
for. The amount of expected credit losses is updated
at each reporting date to reflect changes in credit
risk since initial recognition and, consequently, more
timely information is provided about expected credit
losses.
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2. APPLICATION OF NEW AND REVISED
HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS (“HKFRSs") (Continued)

HKFRS 9 (2014) Financial Instruments (Continued)

° HKFRS 9 (2014) introduces a new model which
is more closely aligns hedge accounting with
risk management activities undertaken by
companies when hedging their financial and
non-financial risk exposures. As a principle-based
approach, HKFRS 9 (2014) looks at whether a risk
component can be identified and measured and
does not distinguish between financial items and
non-financial items. The new model also enables
an entity to use information produced internally
for risk management purposes as a basis for
hedge accounting. Under HKAS 39, it is necessary
to exhibit eligibility and compliance with the
requirements in HKAS 39 using metrics that are
designed solely for accounting purposes. The new
model also includes eligibility criteria but these are
based on an economic assessment of the strength
of the hedging relationship. This can be determined
using risk management data. This should reduce
the costs of implementation compared with those
for HKAS 39 hedge accounting because it reduces
the amount of analysis that is required to be
undertaken only for accounting purposes.

HKFRS 9 (2014) will become effective for annual
periods beginning on or after 1 January 2018 with early
application permitted.

The directors of the Company anticipate that the adoption
of HKFRS 9 (2014) in the future may have significant
impact on amounts reported in respect of the Group's
financial assets and financial liabilities.

Regarding the Group’s financial assets, it is not practicable
to provide a reasonable estimate of that effect until a
detailed review has been completed.
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2. APPLICATION OF NEW AND REVISED
HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS (“HKFRSs") (Continued)

HKFRS 15 Revenue from Contracts with Customers

The core principle of HKFRS 15 is that an entity should
recognise revenue to depict the transfer of promised goods
or services to customers in an amount that reflects the
consideration to which the entity expects to be entitled
in exchange for those goods or services. Thus, HKFRS
15 introduces a model that applies to contracts with
customers, featuring a contract-based five-step analysis of
transactions to determine whether, how much and when
revenue is recognised. The five steps are as follows:

i) Identify the contract with the customer;
ii) Identify the performance obligations in the contract;
iii) Determine the transaction price;

iv) Allocate the transaction price to the performance
obligations; and

V) Recognise revenue when (or as) the entity satisfies a
performance obligation.

HKFRS 15 also introduces extensive qualitative and
guantitative disclosure requirements which aim to enable
users of the financial statements to understand the nature,
amount, timing and uncertainty of revenue and cash flows
arising from contracts with customers.

HKFRS 15 will supersede the current revenue recognition
guidance including HKAS 18 Revenue, HKAS 11
Construction Contracts and the related Interpretations
when it becomes effective.

HKFRS 15 will become effective for annual periods
beginning on or after 1 January 2018 with early
application permitted. The directors of the Company
anticipate that the application of HKFRS 15 in the future
may have a material impact on the amounts reported and
disclosures made in the Group's consolidated financial
statements. However, it is not practicable to provide a
reasonable estimate of the effect of HKFRS 15 until the
Group performs a detailed review.
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2. APPLICATION OF NEW AND REVISED
HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS (“HKFRSs") (Continued)

Annual Improvement to HKFRSs 2012 - 2014 Cycle

The Annual Improvements to HKFRSs 2012 — 2014 Cycle
include a number of amendments to various HKFRSs,
which are summarised below.

The amendments to HKFRS 5 clarify that changing from
one of the disposal methods (i.e. disposal through sale
or disposal through distribution to owners) to the other
should not be considered to be a new plan of disposal,
rather it is a continuation of the original plan. There
is therefore no interruption of the application of the
requirements in HKFRS 5. Besides, the amendments also
clarify that changing the disposal method does not change
the date of classification.

The amendments to HKFRS 7 clarify that a servicing
contract that includes a fee can constitute continuing
involvement in a financial asset. An entity must assess the
nature of the fee and arrangement against the guidance
for continuing involvement in HKFRS 7 in order to assess
whether the additional disclosures for any continuing
involvement in a transferred asset that is derecognised
in its entirety are required. Besides, the amendments to
HKFRS 7 also clarify that disclosures in relation to offsetting
financial assets and financial liabilities are not required
in the condensed interim financial report, unless the
disclosures provide a significant update to the information
reported in the most recent annual report.

The amendments to HKAS 19 clarify that the market depth
of high quality corporate bonds is assessed based on the
currency in which the obligation is denominated, rather
than the country where the obligation is located. When
there is no deep market for high quality corporate bonds
in that currency, government bond rates must be used.
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2. APPLICATION OF NEW AND REVISED
HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS (“HKFRSs") (Continued)

Annual Improvement to HKFRSs 2012 - 2014 Cycle
(Continued)

HKAS 34 requires entities to disclose information in the
notes to the interim financial statements ‘if not disclosed
elsewhere in the interim financial report’. The amendments
to HKAS 34 clarify that the required interim disclosures
must either be in the interim financial statements or
incorporated by cross-reference between the interim
financial statements and wherever they are included within
the greater interim financial report. The other information
within the interim financial report must be available to
users on the same terms as the interim financial statements
and at the same time. If users do not have access to the
other information in this manner, then the interim financial
report is incomplete.

The directors do not anticipate that the application of the
amendments included in the Annual Improvements to
HKFRSs 2012 — 2014 Cycle will have a material effect on
the Group’s consolidated financial statements.

Amendments to HKAS 1 Disclosure Initiative

The amendments clarify that companies should use
professional judgement in determining what information
as well as where and in what order information is
presented in the financial statements. Specifically, an entity
should decide, taking into consideration all relevant facts
and circumstances, how it aggregates information in the
financial statements, which include the notes. An entity
does not require to provide a specific disclosure required by
a HKFRS if the information resulting from that disclosure is
not material. This is the case even if the HKFRS contain a
list of specific requirements or describe them as minimum
requirements.
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2. APPLICATION OF NEW AND REVISED
HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS (“HKFRSs") (Continued)

Amendments to HKAS 1 Disclosure Initiative
(Continued)

Besides, the amendments provide some additional
requirements for presenting additional line items, headings
and subtotals when their presentation is relevant to
an understanding of the entity’s financial position and
financial performance respectively. Entities, in which
they have investments in associates or joint ventures, are
required to present the share of other comprehensive
income of associates and joint ventures accounted for
using the equity method, separated into the share of items
that (i) will not be reclassified subsequently to profit or
loss; and (i) will be reclassified subsequently to profit or
loss when specific conditions are met.

Furthermore, the amendments clarify that:

(i) an entity should consider the effect on the
understandability and comparability of its financial
statements when determining the order of the
notes; and

(ii) significant accounting policies are not required
to be disclosed in one note, but instead can be
included with related information in other notes.

The amendments will become effective for financial
statements with annual periods beginning on or after 1
January 2016. Earlier application is permitted.

The directors of the Company anticipate that the
application of the amendments to HKAS 1 in the future
may have a material impact on the disclosures made in the
Group’s consolidated financial statements.
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